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Dear Stakeholders,

2021 was a remarkable year for BlueLinx and extraordinary in many respects.   In a year filled 
with uncertainty and change, I am incredibly proud of the entire organization’s resiliency, adaptability,
and execution.   We significantly improved our operating performance, strengthened key customer and 
vendor relationships, and capitalized on dynamic market conditions. 

As a result, we achieved record profitability in 2021 including all-time highs in gross profit, 
adjusted EBITDA, and EPS.  These results underscore the benefits of fostering a performance-based 
culture and focusing on critical strategic initiatives.   

Specifically, we emphasized growth in higher value specialty products and leveraged centralized 
purchasing and pricing teams, while also executing a disciplined approach to managing inventory for 
structural products in a historically volatile pricing environment.   

These actions underpinned our incredible 2021 financial performance as net sales grew 38 
percent to $4.3 billion, gross profit increased 63% and gross margins expanded 280 basis points to 18.2%.  
Net income increased by 2.6x to $296 million and diluted earnings was $29.99 per share, up 251% year-
over-year.

In 2021, we recapitalized our debt structure by retiring our 8% term loan, amending our credit 
facility to extend its maturity date to 2026 and to lower the interest rate, and issuing $300 million of 
senior secured notes at 6% that mature in 2029.  As a result, we now have a stable capital structure.

With our balance sheet fortified, we are investing in our people, in our fleet, in our distribution 
centers and in our technology to modernize our business and support our best customers. Beyond that we 
have ample liquidity to create additional value through disciplined, strategic capital allocation.

It is an exciting time for BlueLinx as we embark on a new phase of our journey.  Our aspiration is 
to be the preeminent building products distributor in North America.  To that end, we are focused on 
building a world-class leadership team, optimizing our operations, providing a compelling service 
proposition to our best customers, and focusing on our specialty product portfolio and value-added 
service capabilities to generate customer loyalty and profitable growth.  

To unlock our full potential, we are prioritizing our employee experience and fostering a 
performance based, collaborative culture.  Engaged, inspired employees will strive to ensure we have 
satisfied and loyal customers that are the foundation for our prosperity and success.

As we look to the future, I believe we are in an opportunity rich environment and at the early 
stages of creating long-term value for all stakeholders.  The team and I are excited and committed to 
making BlueLinx the best it can be.

Dwight Gibson
President & CEO
BlueLinx Holdings Inc.
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As used herein, unless the context otherwise requires, “BlueLinx,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Reference to “fiscal 2021” refers to the 52-week period ending January 1, 
2022. Reference to “fiscal 2020” refers to the 53-week period ended January 2, 2021. 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, without 
limitation, any statements that predict, forecast, indicate or imply future results, performance, liquidity levels or achievements, 
and may contain the words “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “intend,” “project,” “plan,” “will be,” “will likely 
continue,” “will likely result” or words or phrases of similar meaning. Forward-looking statements are based on estimates and 
assumptions made by our management that, although believed by us to be reasonable, are inherently uncertain. Forward-
looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause our business, strategy, or actual results to differ materially 
from the forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in 
Part I, Item 1A, those discussed under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations in Part II, Item 7, and those discussed elsewhere in this report and in future reports that we file with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission. We operate in a changing environment in which new risks can emerge from time to time. It is not 
possible for management to predict all of these risks, nor can it assess the extent to which any factor, or a combination of 
factors, may cause our business, strategy, or actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking 
statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, we caution you not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. We 
expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise, except as required by law.

3



PART I

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS

General

BlueLinx is a leading wholesale distributor of residential and commercial building products in the United States. We are a 
“two-step” distributor. Two-step distributors purchase products from manufacturers and distribute those products to dealers and 
other suppliers in local markets, who then sell those products to end users. We carry a broad portfolio of both branded and 
private-label stock keeping units (“SKUs”) across two principal product categories: specialty products and structural products. 
Specialty products include items such as engineered wood, industrial products, cedar, moulding, siding, metal products, and 
insulation. Structural products include items such as lumber, plywood, oriented strand board, rebar, and remesh. We also 
provide a wide range of value-added services and solutions aimed at relieving distribution and logistics challenges for our 
customers and suppliers, while enhancing their marketing and inventory management capabilities.

With a strong market position, broad geographic coverage footprint servicing over 40 states, and the strength of a locally 
focused sales force, we distribute a comprehensive range of products from over 750 suppliers, including some of the leading 
manufacturers in the industry, such as Ply Gem, Huber Engineered Woods, Georgia-Pacific, Allura, James Hardie, Fiberon, 
Royal, Oldcastle APG, Louisiana-Pacific, and Weyerhaeuser. We supply products to a broad base of over 15,000 national, 
regional, and local dealers, specialty distributors, national home centers, and manufactured housing customers, many whom 
serve residential and commercial builders and contractors in their respective geographic areas and local markets.

As a value-added partner in a complex and demanding building products supply chain, we play a critical role in enabling our 
customers to offer a broad range of products and brands, as most of our customers do not have the capability to purchase and 
warehouse products directly from manufacturers for such a large set of SKUs. The depth of our geographic footprint supports 
meaningful customer proximity across the markets in which we operate, enabling faster and more efficient service. Similarly, 
we provide value to our supplier partners by enabling access to the large and fragmented network of lumber yards and dealers 
that those suppliers could not adequately serve directly. Our position in this distribution model for building products provides 
easy access to the marketplace for our suppliers and the value proposition of rapid delivery on an as-needed basis to our 
customers from our network of warehouse facilities.

Our Strategy

We remain committed to driving a culture of profitable growth within new and existing product lines and geographies, while 
positioning the company for long-term value creation. The following strategic initiatives represent key areas of our management 
team’s focus: 

1. Foster a performance-driven culture committed to profitable growth. This includes enhancing the customer 
experience; accelerating organic growth within specific product and solutions offerings where the company is uniquely 
advantaged; and deploying capital to drive sustained margin expansion, grow cash flow and maintain continued 
profitable growth.

2. Migrate sales mix toward higher-margin specialty product categories. The company intends to pursue a revenue 
mix increasingly weighted toward higher-margin, specialty product categories such as engineered wood, moulding, 
millwork, decking and industrial products. Additionally, the company intends to expand its value-added service 
offerings designed to simplify complex customer sourcing requirements, together with marketing, inventory and 
pricing services afforded by the company’s national platform.

3. Maintain a disciplined capital structure and pursue high-return investments that increase the value of the 
company. The company intends to maintain a disciplined capital structure while prudently investing in its business to 
modernize its trailer fleet and distribution facilities and to improve operational performance. The company also 
continues to evaluate potential acquisition targets that complement its existing capabilities, grow its specialty products 
business, increase customer exposure, expand its geographic reach, or a combination thereof. To improve operational 
performance and productivity, we invested $14.4 million in cash during fiscal 2021. Of the $14.4 million in cash 
invested in fiscal 2021, $9.0 million was invested in the fourth quarter.
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Products and Services

We distribute products in two principal categories: specialty products and structural products. Specialty products, which 
represented approximately 59 percent and 60 percent of our fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 net sales, respectively, include primarily 
engineered wood products, moulding, siding and trim, cedar, metal products (excluding rebar and remesh) and insulation. 
Structural products, which represented approximately 41 percent and 40 percent of our fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 net sales, 
respectively, include plywood, oriented strand board, rebar and remesh, lumber, spruce and other wood products primarily used 
for structural support in construction projects. In some cases, these products are branded by us.

We also provide a wide range of value-added services and solutions to our customers and suppliers including:

• providing “less-than-truckload” delivery services;
• pre-negotiated program pricing plans;
• inventory stocking;
• automated order processing through an electronic data interchange, or “EDI,” that provides a direct link between us 

and our customers;
• intermodal distribution services, including railcar unloading and cargo reloading onto customers’ trucks; 
• milling and fabrication services; and
• backhaul services, when otherwise empty trucks are returning from customer deliveries.

Distribution Channels

We sell products through three main distribution channels: warehouse sales, reload sales, and direct sales.

Warehouse sales are delivered from our warehouses to our customers. Reload sales are similar to warehouse sales, but are 
delivered from third-party warehouses where we store owned products to enhance operating efficiencies. This channel is 
employed primarily to service strategic customers that would be less economical to service from our warehouses, and to 
distribute large volumes of imported products from port facilities. Together, warehouse and reload sales accounted for 
approximately 81 percent and 83 percent of our fiscal 2021 and 2020 gross sales, respectively. 

Direct sales are shipped from the manufacturer to the customer without our taking physical possession of the inventory and, as a 
result, typically generate lower margins than our warehouse and reload distribution channels. This distribution channel requires 
the lowest amount of committed capital and fixed costs. Direct sales accounted for approximately 19 percent and 17 percent of 
our fiscal 2021 and 2020 gross sales, respectively.

Human Capital

Our Commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 

We are committed to diversifying our workforce to ensure that our associates feel like they belong. We realize the value that 
diversity, equity and inclusion bring to our business. As of January 1, 2022, women represented 14 percent of our associate 
population, 20 percent of our executive leadership team, and 29 percent of our Board of Directors, and minorities represented 
27 percent of our associate population, 40 percent of our executive leadership team, and 14 percent of our Board of Directors. 
We will continue to monitor and seek to increase our diversity. 

We also use our compensation review process, our compensation framework, and third-party compensation data in an effort to 
compensate associates in the same job, level and location fairly regardless of gender, race and ethnicity. Where we have 
identified discrepancies between actual compensation and our policies, we have taken action to make pay adjustments to close 
identified gaps. In addition, we are actively creating employee resource groups, which are designed to facilitate more social and 
community interaction in our workforce, to foster a more inclusive culture. 

Our Associates

Our associates are the foundation of our business. BlueLinx has an entrepreneurial and high-performance culture where 
associates are expected to live by our core values of teamwork, continuous improvement and integrity each and every day. As 
of January 1, 2022, we employed approximately 2,055 associates, and less than one percent of our associates are employed on a 
part-time basis. Approximately 21 percent of our associates were represented by various local labor unions with terms and 
conditions of employment subject to collective bargaining agreements (“CBAs”) negotiated between the Company and the local 
unions. Six CBAs covering approximately six percent of our associates were up for renewal in fiscal 2021. Four of those CBAs 
were successfully renewed, and another is expected to be completed before the end of the first quarter 2022. The remaining 
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CBA was terminated as a result of the local union disclaiming interest in continuing to represent the associates at the particular 
location. Two CBAs covering approximately four percent of our associates are up for renewal in fiscal 2022.

We strongly believe that our corporate culture depends on our associates’ engagement and understanding of their contribution 
to the achievement of our strategic imperatives, vision, and mission. We also seek to connect our leaders across regions and 
provide them with opportunities to enable collaboration and to connect with the larger organization. In addition to prioritizing 
regular communications, we are conducting regular employee surveys to monitor our culture and employee engagement, while 
seeking feedback on what is going well and where we can focus our efforts to do more. Our annual company survey had 
participation from approximately 72 percent of our associates in fiscal 2021, representing a wide cross section of our associate 
population.

We also conduct periodic leadership town halls where associates are invited to engage with senior leadership. Our CEO and 
other executives engage directly with associates by visiting branches and participating in team and other meetings.   

During fiscal 2021, we continued to invest in our people, and in programs and systems designed to meet the increased demand 
for talent in a dynamic marketplace. For instance, we are increasing our investments in our benefits programs, which included 
approving expanded medical coverage for infertility, and new adoption assistance and loan repayment assistance benefits for 
2022. Also, since the COVID-19 pandemic began, we have actively promoted and encouraged the use of our mental health 
benefits, which include certain free in-person mental health visits and unlimited online mental health sessions. We also 
launched quarterly talent reviews to further our succession planning and career development objectives. 

As a part of our investment in the company’s associates, in December 2021 and in recognition of our performance and the 
contribution of our associates, we announced that all eligible hourly and salaried employees would receive a discretionary year-
end bonus consisting of a combination of cash and/or time-based restricted stock units with a one year vesting period.

Safety

We are committed to fostering a safe working environment for our associates. In addition to implementing COVID-19 protocols 
during the pandemic, we have established uniform safety and compliance procedures for our operations, and implemented 
measures designed to prevent workplace injuries. Our safety programs focus on job hazard identification and prevention, 
coupled with extensive on-going job-specific training. For example, material handlers and Department of Transportation 
(“DOT”)-registered drivers follow a monthly individualized training curriculum, with knowledge testing, for injury and 
accident prevention. In addition, depending on the nature and requirements of their role, new hires and contract employees 
undergo safety training during their initial onboarding. We also administer post injury/accident corrective action supplemental 
training as needed and dictated by our investigations. To help prevent future occurrences, accidents and injuries are investigated 
with corrective actions implemented locally and communicated to key operations personnel across the enterprise. To enhance 
the safety of our fleet, we are making a significant investment in “curtainside” trailers that cover and enclose the materials 
inside. Our newest tractors are equipped with collision avoidance systems, blind spot detection and lane departure warning 
technology, and our newest tractors and trailers are equipped with disc-type brakes to improve stopping distance and driver 
control.

Seasonality

We are exposed to fluctuations in quarterly sales volumes and expenses due to seasonal factors common in the building 
products distribution industry. The first and fourth quarters are typically our lower volume quarters due to the impact of 
unfavorable weather on the construction market. Our second and third quarters are typically our higher volume quarters, 
reflecting an increase in construction, due to more favorable weather conditions. In past years, assuming no change in 
underlying inventory costs, our working capital has increased in the second and third quarters, reflecting general increases in 
seasonal demand. 

During the ongoing novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic, our typical patterns of seasonality changed, largely due to 
increased demand for our products. Milder weather in the latter part of 2021 also contributed to our traditional summer patterns 
continuing into the fourth quarter. While uncertain, it remains a possibility that changes to our typical seasonality trends could 
continue during fiscal 2022 should similar market conditions continue. 

Climate Change 

Climate change presents potential risks and uncertainties for us. Weather-related events, such as hurricanes, tornadoes or 
extreme temperature changes, can impact our operations and result in lost production, supply chain disruptions and increased 
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material costs. In addition, the availability and price of the products we buy and sell may fluctuate during prolonged periods of 
heavy rain or drought, fires or other unpredictable weather events. While unpredictable weather and other changes in climate 
can have a negative impact on our business, changes in climate also could result in more accommodating weather patterns for 
longer periods of time in certain areas. Extended periods of favorable weather can result in an increase in construction, and a 
corresponding increase in the demand for our products. In addition, our operations could in the future be subject to regulations 
related to climate change. To the extent that climate-related risks materialize, and if we are unprepared for them, we may incur 
unexpected costs, which could have a material effect on our financial results of operations. See Item 1A. Risk Factors for 
further discussion of the risks posed by climate change.

Sustainability

In addition to participating in the Forestry Stewardship Council, an organization promoting environmentally appropriate, 
socially beneficial, and economically viable management of the world’s forests, we are purchasing electric forklifts to use in 
certain locations. We also are focused on utilizing more fuel-efficient vehicles in our fleet, replacing our warehouse lighting 
systems with more environmentally friendly lighting solutions, and reducing our landfill waste by prioritizing recycling options, 
where available.

Competition 

The U.S. building products distribution market is a highly fragmented market, served by national and multi-regional 
distributors, regionally focused distributors, and independent local distributors. Local and regional distributors tend to be 
closely held and often specialize in a limited number of product segments, in which they may offer a broader selection of 
products. Some of our national and multi-regional competitors are part of larger companies and, therefore, may have access to 
greater financial and other resources than those to which we have access. We compete on the basis of breadth of product 
offering, consistent availability of product, product price and quality, reputation, service, and distribution facility location. 

Three of our largest competitors are Boise Cascade Company, Weyerhaeuser Company, and Specialty Building Products. Most 
major markets in which we operate are served by the distribution arm of at least one of these companies.

Governmental Regulations

The Company is subject to various federal, state, provincial, and local laws, rules, and regulations. We are subject to the 
requirements of the U.S. Department of Labor Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”). In order to maintain 
compliance with applicable OSHA requirements, we have established uniform safety and compliance procedures for our 
operations, and implemented measures designed to prevent workplace injuries. Our safety programs focus on job hazard 
identification and prevention, coupled with extensive on-going job-specific training. For example, material handlers and DOT-
registered drivers follow a monthly individualized training curriculum, with knowledge testing, for injury and accident 
prevention. In addition, new hires and contract employees undergo safety training during their initial onboarding. We also 
administer post injury/accident corrective action supplemental training as needed and dictated by our investigations. To help 
prevent future occurrences, accidents and injuries are investigated with corrective actions implemented locally and 
communicated to key operations personnel across the enterprise. To enhance the safety of our fleet, we are making a significant 
investment in “curtainside” trailers that cover and enclose the materials inside. Our newest tractors are equipped with collision 
avoidance systems, blind spot detection and lane departure warning technology, and our newest tractors and trailers are 
equipped with disc-type brakes to improve stopping distance and driver control.

The U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”) regulates our operations in domestic interstate commerce. We are subject to 
safety requirements governing interstate operations prescribed by the DOT. We are also subject to the oversight of the Federal 
Motor Carrier Safety Administration (“FMCSA”). Additionally, among other things, vehicle dimensions and driver hours of 
service are subject to both federal and state regulation. Through a partnership with their local DOT enforcement agencies, our 
branches continue to host DOT troopers to conduct training walk-around inspections of our equipment to supplement our 
internal driver training efforts. The Troopers cover all dimensions DOT compliance with specific focus on vehicle maintenance 
and load securement safety requirements. 

We also are subject to environmental laws, rules, and regulations that limit discharges into the environment, establish standards 
for the handling, generation, emission, release, discharge, treatment, storage, and disposal of hazardous materials, substances, 
and wastes, and require cleanup of contaminated soil and groundwater. These laws, ordinances, and regulations are complex, 
change frequently, and have tended to become more stringent over time. Many of them provide for substantial fines and 
penalties, orders (including orders to cease operations), and criminal sanctions for violations. They may also impose liability for 
property damage and personal injury stemming from the presence of, or exposure to, hazardous substances. In addition, certain 
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of our operations require us to obtain, maintain compliance with, and periodically renew, environmental permits. We are 
proactively replacing our diesel underground storage tanks based on their age to prevent fuel releases to the environment.

Certain of these environmental laws, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 
(“CERCLA”), may require the investigation and cleanup of an entity’s or its predecessor’s current or former properties, even if 
the associated contamination was caused by the operations of a third party. These laws also may require the investigation and 
cleanup of third-party sites at which an entity or its predecessor sent hazardous wastes for disposal, notwithstanding that the 
original disposal activity accorded with applicable requirements. Liability under such laws may be imposed jointly and 
severally, and regardless of fault. In addition, our operations could in the future be subject to regulations related to climate 
change.

We have incurred and will continue to incur costs to comply with the requirements of health and safety, transportation, and 
environmental laws, ordinances, and regulations. These requirements could become more stringent in the future, and we cannot 
make assurances that compliance costs may not become material.

Significant Recent Transactions and Developments

Term Loan Facility

As of January 2, 2021, we had outstanding borrowings of $43.2 million under our senior secured term loan facility. On April 2, 
2021, we repaid the remaining outstanding principal balance under the facility and the facility was terminated. As a result, as of 
January 1, 2022, we had no outstanding borrowings under the term loan facility. In connection with our repayment of the 
facility, we expensed $5.8 million of debt issuance costs during the first quarter of fiscal 2021 that we had been amortizing in 
connection with the facility. These costs are included within interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. While the facility was 
paid in full as of April 2, 2021, our average interest rate under the facility, exclusive of fees and prepayment premiums, was 8.2 
percent and 8.0 percent for the years ended January 2, 2021 and January 1, 2022, respectively. 

Amendment of our Revolving Credit Facility

On August 2, 2021, we amended our revolving credit facility to, among other things, (i) extend the maturity date of the facility 
from October 10, 2022, to August 2, 2026, (ii) amend the Borrowing Base (as such term is defined under the facility) to include 
a certain portion of the assets of acquired companies prior to the conduct of a field exam or appraisals thereof by the agent, (iii) 
modify certain definitions and various affirmative and negative covenants to provide additional flexibility for the Company, and 
(iv) add customary LIBOR replacement language.

In addition, the amended revolving credit facility now provides for interest on borrowings at a rate per annum equal to (i) 
LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.75 percent, with the amount of such margin determined based upon the 
average of our excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as calculated by the agent, for loans based on 
LIBOR, or (ii) the base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.25 percent to 0.75 percent, with the amount of such margin 
determined based upon the average of our excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as calculated by the 
agent, for loans based on the base rate, reflecting a decrease of 0.50 percent to the upper limit of each respective margin tier.

As of January 1, 2022, we had zero outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility. 

Share Repurchase Program

On August 23, 2021, we announced our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program pursuant to which we may 
repurchase up to $25 million of our common stock. Under the program, we may repurchase our common stock at any time or 
from time to time, without prior notice, subject to prevailing market conditions and other considerations. Our repurchases may 
be made through a variety of methods, which may include open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or pursuant 
to a trading plan that may be adopted in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 10b5-1. As of the date 
of this filing, we have repurchased no shares under this program.

Senior Secured Notes Transaction

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we completed a private offering of $300 million of our six percent senior secured notes due 
2029 (the “2029 Notes”). The 2029 Notes were issued to investors at 98.625 percent of their principal amount and will mature 
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on November 15, 2029. The majority of net proceeds from the offering of the 2029 Notes were used to repay borrowings under 
our revolving credit facility. In conjunction with this offering, we also amended the revolving credit facility to reduce the credit 
limit from $600 million to $350 million. In conjunction with the reduction of the credit limit of our revolving credit facility, we 
expensed approximately $1.6 million of debt issuance costs during the fourth quarter of 2021. These costs are included within 
interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in 
our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Real Estate Transactions

During fiscal 2021, we sold two non-operating facilities that were previously identified as “held for sale”. During the first 
quarter, we sold our non-operating facility located in Birmingham, Alabama, and recognized a gain of $1.3 million in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income, as a result of this sale. Proceeds from this transaction were 
used to pay down our term loan facility. Additionally, during the fourth quarter, we sold our non-operating facility located in 
Houston, Texas. We recognized a gain of $7.1 million in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income 
as a result of this sale. 

Securities Exchange Act Reports

The Company maintains a website at www.BlueLinxCo.com. The information on the Company’s website is not incorporated by 
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available on or through our website certain reports, and amendments 
to those reports, that we file with or furnish to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in accordance with 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These include our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and proxy statements. Additionally, our code of ethical conduct, the board 
committee charter for each of our audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and governance committee, and 
our corporate governance guidelines are available on our website. If we amend our code of ethical conduct, or grant any waiver, 
including any implicit waiver, for any board member, our chief executive officer, our chief financial officer, or any other 
executive officer, we will disclose such amendment or waiver on our website.

We make information available on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the 
information with, or furnish it to, the SEC. In addition, copies of this information will be made available, free of charge, on 
written request, by writing to BlueLinx Holdings Inc., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 1950 Spectrum Circle, Suite 300, Marietta, 
Georgia, 30067.
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ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information contained in this Form 10-K, including the information set forth in “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes, the 
following risk factors should be considered carefully in evaluating our business. Our business, financial condition, or results of 
operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we 
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business and operations.

Industry Risks

We may experience pricing and product cost variability. 

Our business has experienced, and is likely to continue experiencing, cycles relating to industry capacity and general economic 
conditions. During 2021, availability of certain building products we distribute was impacted by supply constraints driven by 
the COVID-19 pandemic and affected the market price of the commodity and commodity-based specialty products we buy and 
distribute. The length and magnitude of these cycles can vary over time and by product. Prices for our products are driven by 
many factors, including general economic conditions, demand for our products and competitive conditions in the industries 
within which we compete, and we have little influence over the timing and extent of price changes, which may be unpredictable 
and volatile. If supply exceeds demand, prices for our products could decline, and our results of operations, cash flows, and 
financial condition could be adversely affected. Certain published indices (including those published by Random Lengths 
(“RL”)) contribute to the setting of selling prices for some of our products. Although RL is a widely circulated source of 
information for the wood products industry, it may not accurately reflect changes in market conditions for our products. 
Changes in how RL is maintained, or other indices are established or maintained, could adversely impact the selling prices for 
these products. 

Many of the building products that we distribute, including oriented strand board (“OSB”), plywood, lumber, and rebar, are 
commodities that are widely available from other distributors or manufacturers, with prices and volumes determined frequently 
in an auction market based on participants’ perceptions of short-term supply and demand factors. Prices of commodity products 
can also change as a result of national and international economic conditions, labor and freight costs, competition, market 
speculation, government regulation, and trade policies, as well as from periodic delays in the delivery of products. Short-term 
increases in the cost of these materials, some of which are subject to significant fluctuations, are sometimes passed on to our 
customers, but our pricing quotation periods and pricing pressure from our competitors may limit our ability to pass on such 
price changes. We may also be limited in our ability to pass on increases in freight costs on our products.

At times, the sale price for any one or more of the products we produce or distribute may fall below our purchase costs, 
requiring us to incur losses on product sales. Therefore, our profitability with respect to these commodity products depends, in 
significant part, on managing our cost structure. Commodity product prices could be volatile in response to operating rates and 
inventory levels in various distribution channels. Commodity price volatility affects our distribution business, with falling price 
environments generally causing reduced revenues and margins, potentially resulting in substantial declines in profitability and 
possible net losses.

Large customers have historically been able to exert pressure on their outside suppliers and distributors to keep prices low in the 
highly fragmented building materials distribution industry. In addition, continued consolidation among our customers, 
particularly dealers, and their customers (i.e., home builders), and changes in their respective purchasing policies and payment 
practices, could result in even further pricing pressure. A decline in the prices of the products we distribute could adversely 
impact our operating results. When the prices of the products we distribute decline, customer demand for lower prices could 
result in lower sales prices and, to the extent that our inventory at the time was purchased at higher costs, lower margins. 
Alternatively, in a rising price environment, our suppliers may increase prices or reduce discounts on the products we distribute, 
and we may be unable to pass on any cost increase to our customers, thereby resulting in reduced margins and profits. 
Furthermore, continued consolidation among our suppliers makes it more difficult for us to negotiate favorable pricing, 
consignment arrangements, and discount programs with our suppliers, thereby resulting in reduced margins and profits. Overall, 
these pricing pressures may adversely affect our operating results and cash flows.

Although the rate of inflation has been low in recent years, we are currently experiencing a significant rise in inflation. An 
inflationary environment can increase the cost of products we purchase. However, economic conditions and market factors may 
make it difficult for us to raise our prices enough to keep up with the rate of inflation, which could reduce our profit margins or 
reduce the number of customers who can purchase our products. If the current inflationary environment continues or worsens, 
we may not be able to adjust the pricing we charge for our products to offset increasing product costs, which would adversely 
impact our results of operations and cash flows.
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Our earnings are highly dependent on volumes. 

Our earnings are highly dependent on volumes, which fluctuate. Commodity price inflation can increase our gross margins on 
relatively consistent or even lower year over year sales volumes, depending on the degree of commodity price inflation. 
Fluctuations in commodity prices make it difficult to predict our financial results with any degree of certainty. Volumes for 
certain of the products that we distribute were significantly impacted in fiscal 2021 by COVID-19. The pandemic has affected 
our operational and financial performance and the extent of its effect on our operational and financial performance will continue 
to depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration, 
scope, and severity of the pandemic, the actions taken to contain or mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect economic 
efforts of the pandemic and related containment measures, among others. Any failure to maintain, or increase volumes, alone or 
combined with fluctuations, such as commodity price inflation or deflation, which would impact the purchase and/or selling 
price of our products, could adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition.

Our industry is highly fragmented and competitive. If we are unable to compete effectively, our net sales and operating 
results may be reduced.

The building and industrial products distribution industry is highly fragmented and competitive, and the barriers to entry for 
local competitors are relatively low. Competitive factors in our industry include pricing, availability of product, service, 
delivery capabilities, customer relationships, geographic coverage, and breadth of product offerings. Also, financial stability is 
important to suppliers and customers in choosing distributors for their products, and affects the favorability of the terms on 
which we are able to obtain our products from our suppliers and sell our products to our customers.

Some of our competitors may have less financial leverage or are part of larger companies, and, therefore, may have access to 
greater financial and other resources than those to which we have access. Finally, we may not be able to maintain our costs at a 
level sufficiently low for us to compete effectively. If we are unable to compete effectively, our net sales and net income may 
be reduced.

Our industry is highly cyclical, and prolonged periods of weak demand or excess supply may reduce our net sales and/or 
margins, which may cause us to incur losses or reduce our net income.

The building products distribution industry is subject to cyclical market pressures. Prices of building products are determined 
by overall supply and demand in the market. Market prices of building products historically have been volatile and cyclical, and 
we have limited ability to control the timing and amount of pricing changes. Demand for building products is driven mainly by 
factors outside of our control, such as general economic and political conditions, interest rates, availability of mortgage 
financing, inflation, the construction, repair and remodeling markets, industrial markets, housing supply, weather, and 
population growth. The supply of building products fluctuates based on available manufacturing capacity, and excess capacity 
in the industry can result in significant declines in market prices for those products. To the extent that prices and volumes 
experience a sustained or sharp decline, our net sales and margins likely would decline as well. Because we have substantial 
fixed costs, a decrease in sales and margin generally may have a significant adverse impact on our financial condition, operating 
results, and cash flows.

Adverse housing market conditions may negatively impact our business, liquidity, and results of operations, and increase the 
credit risk from our customers.

Our business depends to a significant degree on the new residential construction market and, in particular, single family home 
construction. The home building industry peaked in 2005, and then underwent a significant decline. Although the home 
building industry has improved and continues to improve, it is still far below its peak in 2005. According to the U.S. Census 
Bureau, actual single-family housing starts in the United States during 2021 increased from 2020 levels but remain below their 
peak in 2005. The multi-year downturn in the home building industry resulted in a substantial reduction in demand for the 
products we provide. We cannot predict the duration of the current housing industry market conditions or the timing or strength 
of any continued recovery of housing activity in our markets. The home building industry also may not recover to historical 
levels. Continued weakness in the new residential construction market would have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and operating results. Factors impacting the level of activity in the residential new construction markets 
include changes in interest rates, inflation, unemployment rates, housing inventory, high foreclosure rates and unsold/
foreclosure inventory, availability of financing, labor costs and availability, vacancy rates, local, state and federal government 
regulation (including mortgage interest deductibility and other tax laws), weakening in the U.S. economy or of any regional or 
local economy in which we operate, availability of supplies, the COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on the economy and consumer 
demand and preferences, and shifts in populations away from the markets that we serve. In addition, the mortgage markets 
periodically experience disruption and reduced availability of mortgages for potential homebuyers due to more restrictive 
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standards to qualify for mortgages, including with respect to new home construction loans. Because of these factors, there may 
be fluctuations in our operating results, and the results for any historical period may not be indicative of results for any future 
period.

We also rely on residential repair and remodel activity levels. Historically, residential repair and remodeling activity has 
decreased in slow economic periods. General economic weakness, elevated unemployment levels, mortgage delinquency and 
foreclosure rates, limitations in the availability of mortgage and home improvement financing, and lower housing turnover all 
limit consumers’ spending, particularly on discretionary items, and affect their confidence level leading to reduced spending on 
home improvement projects. Depressed activity levels in consumer spending for home improvement construction would 
adversely affect our business, liquidity, results of operations, and financial position. Furthermore, economic weakness causes 
unanticipated shifts in consumer preferences and purchasing practices, and in the business models and strategies of our 
customers. Such shifts may alter the nature and prices of products demanded by the end consumer, and, in turn, our customers 
and could adversely affect our operating performance.

In addition, we extend credit to numerous customers who are generally susceptible to the same economic business risks that we 
are. Unfavorable housing market conditions could result in financial failures of one or more of our significant customers. 
Furthermore, we may not necessarily be aware of any deterioration in our customers’ financial position. If our larger customers’ 
financial positions were to become impaired, our ability to fully collect receivables from such customers could be impaired and 
negatively affect our operating results, cash flows, and liquidity.

Consolidation among competitors, suppliers, and customers could negatively impact our business.

Our competitors continue to consolidate. Among other things, this consolidation is being driven by customer needs and supplier 
capabilities, which could cause markets to become more competitive as greater economies of scale are achieved by distributors. 
Customers are increasingly aware of the total costs of fulfillment and of the need to have consistent sources of supply at 
multiple locations. We believe these customer needs could result in fewer distributors as the remaining distributors become 
larger and capable of being consistent sources of supply. There can be no assurance that we will be able to take advantage 
effectively of this trend toward consolidation. The trend in our industry toward consolidation could make it more difficult for us 
to maintain operating margins.

Our customers and suppliers also continue to consolidate, and this consolidation could result in the loss of existing customers 
and suppliers to our competitors. We typically do not enter into minimum purchase contracts with our customers or suppliers. 
The loss of one or more of our significant customers or suppliers, or their decision to purchase or sell our products in 
significantly lower quantities than they have in the past, could significantly affect our financial condition, operating results, and 
cash flows.

We are subject to disintermediation risk.

As customers continue to consolidate or otherwise increase their purchasing power, they are better able, and may choose, to 
purchase products directly from the same suppliers that use us for distribution. In addition, our suppliers may elect to distribute 
some or all of their products directly to end-customers in one or more markets. This process of disintermediation can put us at 
risk of losing business from a customer, or of losing entire product lines or categories, or distribution territories, from suppliers. 
Disintermediation also adversely impacts our ability to obtain favorable pricing from suppliers and optimize margins and 
revenue with respect to our customers. As a result, continued disintermediation could have a negative impact on our financial 
condition and operating results.

Loss of key products or key suppliers and manufacturers could affect our financial health.

Our ability to offer a wide variety of products to our customers is dependent upon our ability to obtain adequate product supply 
from manufacturers and other suppliers. Generally, our products are obtainable from various sources and in sufficient quantities 
subject to then current market conditions. However, the loss of, or a substantial decrease in the availability of, key products 
from our suppliers, or the loss of key supplier arrangements, could adversely impact our financial condition, operating results, 
and cash flows. Although in many instances we have agreements with our suppliers, these agreements are generally terminable 
by either party on limited notice. Failure by our suppliers to continue to supply us with products on commercially reasonable 
terms, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, operating results, and cash flows.
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Our dependence on international suppliers and manufacturers for certain products exposes us to risks that could affect our 
financial condition.

Many of our suppliers and manufacturers are located outside of the United States. Thus, import taxes or costs, including new or 
increased tariffs, anti-dumping duties, countervailing duties, or similar duties, some of which could be applied retroactively, 
could increase the cost of the products that we distribute. In addition, quotas, embargoes, sanctions, safeguards, and customs 
restrictions, as well as foreign labor strikes, work stoppages, or boycotts, could reduce the supply of the products available to 
us. If we become subject to a reduction in available supply of imported products and we are unable to mitigate that reduction 
through alternative sources, or if the costs of our imported products increase and we are not able to pass along those increased 
costs to our customers, then our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Operating Risks

Our strategy includes pursuing acquisitions. We may be unsuccessful in making and integrating mergers, acquisitions and 
investments, and completing divestitures. 

The integration of acquisitions can involve significant anticipated and unanticipated operational challenges, including 
integrating different computer, enterprise resource planning, and accounting systems, integrating physical facilities and 
inventories, and integrating acquired personnel and corporate cultures into our business. Addressing these challenges requires 
the attention of management and the diversion of resources from existing operations. Our failure to manage these operational 
challenges effectively and at anticipated costs could result in disruptions in overall operating performance and deficiencies in 
customer service of the combined business. These disruptions and deficiencies could lead to increased costs, order and delivery 
errors, inventory and billing errors, the loss of employees, or the loss of customers, suppliers, or products either overall or in 
certain markets, which could adversely affect our financial condition, operating results, and cash flows.

As part of our overall strategy, we may make additional acquisitions or investments in the future. These acquisitions or 
investments would be subject to the same risks and uncertainties described above. If we do not effectively manage those risks 
and uncertainties, our financial condition, operating results, and cash flows may be negatively affected. 

We may incur business disruptions resulting from a variety of possible causes.

The operations at our distribution facilities may be interrupted or impaired by various operating risks, including, but not limited 
to, risks associated with catastrophic events, such as fires, floods, earthquakes, explosions, natural disasters, severe weather, 
including hurricanes, tornados and droughts, whether a result of climate change or otherwise, pandemics, including COVID-19, 
or other similar occurrences; interruptions in the delivery of products via railroad or other inbound transportation means; 
adverse government regulations; equipment breakdowns or failures; prolonged power failures; unscheduled maintenance 
outages; information system disruptions or failures due to any number of causes, including cyber-attacks; violations of our 
permit requirements or revocation of permits; releases of pollutants and hazardous substances to air, soil, surface water or 
ground water; disruptions in transportation infrastructure, including roads, bridges, railroad tracks and tunnels; shortages of 
equipment or spare parts; and labor disputes and shortages.

We may be unable to effectively manage our inventory relative to our sales volume or as the prices of the products we 
distribute fluctuate, which could affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.

We purchase many of our products directly from manufacturers, which are then sold and distributed to customers. We must 
maintain, and have adequate working capital to purchase sufficient inventory to meet customer demand. Due to the lead times 
required by our suppliers, we order products in advance of expected sales. As a result, we are required to forecast our sales and 
purchases accordingly. In periods characterized by significant changes in the overall economy and activity in the residential and 
commercial building and home repair and remodel industries, it can be especially difficult to forecast our sales accurately. We 
must also manage our working capital to fund our inventory purchases. Such issues and risks can be magnified by the diversity 
of product mix our business units carry across multiple major product categories. Excessive increases in the market prices of 
certain building products can put negative pressure on our operating cash flows by requiring us to invest more in inventory. In 
the future, if we are unable to effectively manage our inventory, our cash flows may be negatively affected, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
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We are subject to information technology security risks and business interruption risks and may incur increasing costs in an 
effort to minimize and/or respond to those risks.

Our business employs information technology systems to secure confidential information, such as employee data, including 
social security numbers and personal health data. We may not have the resources or technical sophistication to anticipate or 
prevent rapidly evolving types of cyber-attacks. Any compromise of our security could result in a loss or misuse of our 
confidential information, violation of applicable privacy and other laws, significant legal and financial exposure, theft, damage 
to our reputation, interruption of our business operations, and a loss of confidence in our security measures; any of which could 
harm our business. We may also be subject to phishing attacks, wherein individuals may fraudulently purport to be an agent of 
a reputable company in order to engage in theft or induce our employees to reveal confidential and other information or provide 
unauthorized resources. We are also susceptible to malware, ransomware, denial of service, and other attacks that could 
adversely affect our information technology systems. Although we utilize various procedures and controls to monitor and 
mitigate these threats, there can be no assurance that these procedures and controls will be sufficient to prevent security threats 
from materializing. As cyber-attacks become more sophisticated generally, we may incur significant costs to strengthen our 
systems from outside intrusions, and/or obtain insurance coverage related to the threat of such attacks.

Additionally, our business is reliant upon information technology systems to, among other things, manage and route our sales 
calls, manage inventories and accounts receivable, make purchasing decisions, monitor our results of operations, and place 
orders with our vendors and process orders from our customers. These systems may be vulnerable to natural disasters, 
telecommunications failures and similar events, employee errors or to intentional acts of misconduct, such as security breaches 
or attacks. The occurrence of any of these events or acts, or any other unanticipated problems, could result in damage to or the 
unavailability of these systems. Such damage or unavailability could, despite any existing disaster recovery and business 
continuity arrangements, interrupt the availability of one or more of our information technology systems. We have from time to 
time experienced such disruptions and they may occur in the future. Disruptions in these systems could materially impact our 
ability to buy and sell our products, as well as generally operate our business, which could reduce our revenue.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, train, and retain highly qualified associates and other key personnel while 
controlling related labor costs.

In order to be successful, we must attract, train, and retain a large number of highly qualified associates while controlling 
related labor costs. Our ability to control labor costs is subject to numerous external factors, including prevailing wage rates and 
health and other insurance costs.

In many of our markets, highly qualified associates are in high demand and we compete with other businesses for these 
associates and invest resources in training and incentivizing them. In particular, there is significant competition for qualified 
drivers in the transportation industry. And interventions and enforcement under the FMCSA Compliance, Safety, and 
Accountability program may shrink the industry’s pool of drivers as those drivers with unfavorable scores may no longer be 
eligible to drive. There can be no assurance that we will be able to attract or retain highly qualified associates in the future, 
including those employed by companies we may acquire.

As a result of labor shortages, particularly among our drivers and material handlers, we could be required to utilize temporary 
or contract labor. Using temporary or contract labor typically requires higher cost, and temporary or contract labor may be less 
productive than full-time associates. In addition, a shortage of qualified drivers could require us to increase driver 
compensation, let trucks sit idle, utilize common carriers, utilize less experienced drivers, or face difficulty meeting customer 
demands, all of which could adversely affect our growth and profitability.

Furthermore, our success is highly dependent on the continued services of our management team. The loss of services of one or 
more key members of our senior management team could have a material adverse effect on us.

We are exposed to product liability and other claims and legal proceedings related to our business and the products we 
distribute, which may exceed the coverage of our insurance.

The building products industry has been subject to personal injury and property damage claims arising from alleged exposure to 
raw materials contained in building products as well as claims for incidents of catastrophic loss, such as building fires. As a 
distributor of building materials, we face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims in the event that the use of the 
products we have distributed in the past or may in the future distribute is alleged to have resulted in economic loss, personal 
injury or property damage, or violated environmental, health or safety, or other laws. Such product liability claims may include 
allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict 
liability, or a breach of warranties. We are also from time to time subject to casualty, contract, tort, and other claims relating to 
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our business, the products we have distributed in the past or may in the future distribute, and the services we have provided in 
the past or may in the future provide, either directly or through third parties. We rely on manufacturers and other suppliers, 
including manufacturers and suppliers located outside of the United States, to provide us with the products we sell or distribute. 
Since we do not have direct control over the quality of products that are manufactured or supplied to us by third parties, we are 
particularly vulnerable to risks relating to the quality of such products. In addition, operating hazards, such as unloading heavy 
products, operating large machinery and driving hazards, which are inherent in our business and some of which may be outside 
of our control, can cause personal injury and loss of life, damage to or destruction of property, plant, and equipment and 
environmental damage.

We cannot predict or, in some cases, control the costs to defend or resolve such claims. We cannot assure you that we will be 
able to maintain suitable and adequate insurance on acceptable terms or that such insurance will provide adequate protection 
against potential liabilities, and the cost of any product liability or other proceeding, even if resolved in our favor, could be 
substantial. Additionally, we do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter. Any significant 
uninsured liability may require us to pay substantial amounts. There can be no assurance that any current or future claims will 
not adversely affect our financial position, cash flows, or results of operations.

Our business operations could suffer significant losses from climate changes, natural disasters, catastrophes, fire, or other 
unexpected events.

While we maintain insurance covering our facilities and equipment, including business interruption insurance, our warehouse 
facilities could be materially damaged by natural disasters, such as floods, tornadoes, hurricanes, and earthquakes, or by fire, 
adverse weather conditions, civil unrest, condemnation, or other unexpected events or disruptions to our facilities. We could 
incur uninsured losses and liabilities arising from such events, including damage to our reputation, and/or suffer material losses 
in operational capacity, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations. In addition, war, terrorism, geopolitical uncertainties, and public health issues could cause damage or disruption to 
the global economy, and thus could have a material adverse effect on us, our suppliers and our customers.

Our operating results depend on the successful implementation of our strategy. We may not be able to implement our 
strategic initiatives successfully, on a timely basis, or at all.

We regularly evaluate the performance of our business and, as a result of such evaluations, we have in the past undertaken and 
may in the future undertake strategic initiatives within our businesses. Strategic initiatives that we may implement now or in the 
future may not result in improvements in future financial performance and could result in additional unanticipated costs. If we 
are unable to realize the benefits of our strategic initiatives, our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of 
operations could be adversely affected.

A significant percentage of our employees are unionized. Wage increases or work stoppages by our unionized employees 
may reduce our results of operations.

As of January 1, 2022, we employed approximately 2,055 employees and less than one percent of our employees are employed 
on a part-time basis. Approximately 21 percent of our employees were represented by various local labor unions with terms and 
conditions of employment governed by collective bargaining agreements (“CBAs”). Six CBAs covering approximately six 
percent of our employees were up for renewal in fiscal 2021. Four of those CBAs were successfully renewed, and another is 
expected to be completed before the end of the first quarter 2022. The remaining CBA was terminated as a result of the local 
union disclaiming interest in continuing to represent the employees at the particular location. Two CBAs covering 
approximately four percent of our employees are up for renewal in fiscal 2022. 

Although we have generally had good relations with our unionized employees, and expect to renew collective bargaining 
agreements as they expire, no assurances can be provided that we will be able to reach a timely agreement as to the renewal of 
the agreements, and their expiration or continued work under an expired agreement, as applicable, could result in a work 
stoppage. In addition, we may become subject to material wage increases, or additional work rules imposed by agreements with 
labor unions. The foregoing could increase our selling, general, and administrative expenses in absolute terms and/or as a 
percentage of net sales. In addition, work stoppages or other labor disturbances may occur in the future, which could adversely 
impact our net sales and/or selling, general, and administrative expenses. Wage increases could also be significant in an 
inflationary environment even in our non-unionized locations. All or some of these factors could negatively impact our 
operating results and cash flows.
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Federal, state, local, and other regulations could impose substantial costs and restrictions on our operations that would 
reduce our net income.

We are subject to various federal, state, local, and other laws and regulations, including, among other things, transportation 
regulations promulgated by the DOT, work safety regulations promulgated by OSHA, employment regulations promulgated by 
the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor, regulations issued by the 
SEC, accounting standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) or similar entities, and state and 
local zoning restrictions, building codes and contractors’ licensing regulations. More burdensome regulatory requirements in 
these or other areas may increase our general and administrative costs and adversely affect our financial condition, operating 
results, and cash flows. Moreover, failure to comply with the regulatory requirements applicable to our business could expose 
us to litigation and substantial fines and penalties that could adversely affect our financial condition, operating results, and cash 
flows.

Our transportation operations, upon which we depend to distribute products from our distribution centers, are subject to the 
regulatory jurisdiction of the DOT and the FMCSA, which have broad administrative powers with respect to our transportation 
operations. Vehicle dimensions and driver hours of service also are subject to both federal and state regulation. More restrictive 
limitations, including those on vehicle weight and size, trailer length and configuration, or driver hours of service would 
increase our costs, which, if we are unable to pass these cost increases on to our customers, may increase our selling, general 
and administrative expenses and adversely affect our financial condition, operating results, and cash flows. If we fail to comply 
adequately with the DOT and FMCSA regulations or such regulations become more stringent, we could experience increased 
inspections, regulatory authorities could take remedial action, including imposing fines or shutting down our operations, or we 
could be subject to increased audit and compliance costs. If any of these events were to occur, our financial condition, operating 
results, and cash flows could be adversely affected.

In addition, the residential and commercial construction industries are subject to various local, state and federal statutes, 
ordinances, codes, rules and regulations concerning zoning, building design and safety, construction, contractor licensing, 
energy conservation, and similar matters, including regulations that impose restrictive zoning and density requirements on the 
residential new construction industry or that limit the number of homes or other buildings that can be built within the 
boundaries of a particular area. Regulatory restrictions may increase our operating expenses and limit the availability of suitable 
building lots for our customers, any of which could negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to federal, state, and local environmental protection laws and may have to incur significant costs to comply 
with these laws and regulations in the future.

Environmental liabilities could arise on the land that we have owned, own or lease, including as a result of the use of 
underground fuel storage tanks, and these liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and 
performance. Federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment, including those 
regulating the use and maintenance of underground storage tanks, may require a current or previous owner or operator of real 
estate to investigate and remediate hazardous materials, substances and waste releases at or from the property. They may also 
impose liability for property damage and personal injury stemming from the presence of, or exposure to, hazardous substances. 
In addition, we could incur costs to comply with such environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could lead to 
substantial fines and penalties. Our operations could also in the future be subject to regulations related to climate change.

The ongoing effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and other widespread public health crises may adversely affect our business 
and results from operations.

Public health crises, pandemics, and epidemics, such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, have impacted, and could continue 
to impact, our operations and financial performance. The extent of the effect of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on our 
operational and financial performance in future periods will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and 
cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration, scope and severity of the pandemic and the spread of COVID-19 
variants, the actions taken to contain or mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect economic effects of the pandemic and 
related containment measures, among others.

In response to the spread of COVID-19, governmental authorities implemented numerous measures to try to contain the virus, 
including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place and work from home orders, and shutdowns of “non-
essential” businesses. While we were deemed an “essential” business at the time, this status may not be the case again, which 
could adversely impact our ability to operate in the markets we serve. Governmental measures have impacted, and may further 
impact, our workforce and operations, as well as those of our customers, vendors and suppliers. We have distribution operations 
across the United States, and each state in which we operate has been affected by the outbreak of COVID-19 and taken various 
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measures to try to contain it. Varying levels of regulatory, legal and other measures to contain the COVID-19 outbreak, and 
associated variants, in states across the United States could impact our operations in varying degrees, the impact of which we 
cannot reasonably predict. Among other impacts to our business from the outbreak of COVID-19:

• We have experienced higher overall demand for our products due to economic conditions and changing consumer 
behaviors driven by COVID-19, which may or may not continue;

• Our supply chain may be disrupted due to government restrictions or if our suppliers or vendors have raw material 
and/or labor disruptions as a result of the pandemic that cause us to experience disruptions in product availability;

• Our distribution capabilities may be disrupted if we are unable to secure sufficient supplies of products, if significant 
portions of our workforce are unable to work effectively, including because of illness, government actions or other 
restrictions, or if we have periods of disruptions due to deep cleaning and sanitizing our facilities. In addition, we have 
incurred additional expense for cleaning, safety supplies and equipment, screening resources and other items and 
expect these costs to continue to some degree in the future although we may choose not to report them separately;

• We may experience an increase or decrease in commodity and other input costs due to market volatility and product 
availability; 

• We may experience an increase in our working capital needs or an increase in our trade accounts receivable write-offs 
as a result of increased financial pressures on our suppliers and customers; and, 

• We may experience changes to our internal controls over financial reporting as a result of changes in working 
environments, such as shelter-in-place and similar orders, as well as the potential for staffing limitations.

Our vaccination policies and governmental regulations concerning mandatory COVID-19 vaccination of employees could 
have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

During 2021, we implemented a mandatory vaccination policy for our corporate-based workforce and new hires joining our 
Company. Our policy did not and does not extend to hourly employees working outside our corporate office who joined our 
Company prior to the implementation of our policy. In September 2021, President Biden issued an executive order directing the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) to create rules requiring U.S. employers with 100 or more 
employees to require COVID-19 vaccinations or weekly employee testing before coming to work. On January 13, 2022, the 
U.S. Supreme Court issued an order that halted implementation of President Biden’s vaccine and testing requirement aimed at 
large businesses and sent the case back to the U.S. Court of Appeals. On January 26, 2022, OSHA announced a withdrawal of 
the vaccination and testing requirement for businesses. Although OSHA withdrew the vaccination and testing requirement as an 
enforceable emergency temporary standard (“ETS”), OSHA intends to continue moving the ETS forward through the rule-
making process as a proposed rule. Accordingly, it is possible that the company may be subject to the specific policies outlined 
in the ETS if it becomes a final rule under OSHA’s rule-making authority.

Implementation of these rules, future rules, or our own vaccination policies, as well as navigating conflicts between state, local 
and federal rules, could cause us to experience additional challenges in retaining our employees. Regulatory impacts from these 
rules, or future rules, requiring company-wide vaccination could impact us in a significant way if we are required to apply 
vaccination requirements to our entire employee population. We expect that the market for both hourly workers and 
professional workers will remain challenging at least through fiscal 2022. If we fail to attract, motivate, train and retain 
qualified personnel, or if we experience excessive turnover, we may experience declining sales, manufacturing delays or other 
operating inefficiencies, increased recruiting, training and relocation costs and other difficulties, and our results of operations, 
cash flows and financial condition, and the trading price of our common stock may be adversely impacted.

Financial Risks

Our future operating results may fluctuate significantly, and our current operating results may not be a good indication of 
our future performance. Fluctuations in our quarterly financial results could affect our stock price in the future.

Our revenues and operating results have historically varied from period-to-period and we expect that they will continue to do so 
as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control. If our quarterly financial results or our predictions 
of future financial results fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors, our stock price could be negatively 
affected. Any volatility in our quarterly financial results may make it more difficult for us to raise capital in the future or pursue 
acquisitions that involve issuances of our stock. In addition, because of this variability, our operating results for prior periods 
may not be effective predictors of future performance.

Factors associated with our industry, the operation of our business, and the markets for our products may cause our quarterly 
financial results to fluctuate, including:
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• the commodity nature of many of our products and their price movements, which are driven largely by capacity 
utilization rates and industry cycles that affect supply and demand; 

• general economic conditions, including but not limited to housing starts, construction labor shortages, repair and 
remodel activity and commercial construction, foreclosure rates, interest rates, unemployment rates, and mortgage 
availability and pricing, as well as other consumer financing mechanisms, that ultimately affect demand for our 
products; 

• supply chain disruptions, including those caused by the spread of contagious illness;
• the highly competitive nature of our industry; 
• disintermediation;
• the impact of actuarial assumptions and regulatory activity on pension costs and pension funding requirements; 
• our creditworthiness in addition to the financial condition and creditworthiness of our customers; 
• our substantial indebtedness, including the possibility that we may not generate sufficient cash flows from operations 

or that future borrowings may not be available in amounts sufficient to fulfill our debt obligations and fund other 
liquidity needs; 

• cost of compliance with government regulations;
• adverse customs and tariff rulings including those relating to anti-dumping, countervailing duty, or circumvention 

investigations;
• protectionist trade policies and import tariffs;
• labor disruptions, shortages of skilled and technical labor, or increased labor costs;
• the impact of cost inflation, which may arise from changes in the economic environment, such as potential litigation;
• increased healthcare costs;
• the need to successfully implement succession plans for our senior managers and other associates;
• our ability to successfully complete potential acquisitions, achieve expected synergies from acquisitions, or efficiently 

integrate acquired operations;
• disruption in our information technology systems;
• significant maintenance issues or failures with respect to our tractors, trailers, forklifts, and other major equipment;
• severe weather phenomena such as drought, hurricanes, tornadoes, and fire; 
• condemnations of all or part of our real property; and
• fluctuations in the market for our equity. 

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of the factors referred to above may result in significant 
fluctuations in our quarterly financial and other operating results, including fluctuations in our key metrics. The variability and 
unpredictability could result in our failing to meet our internal operating plan or the expectations of securities analysts or 
investors for any period. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our 
shares could fall substantially and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits.

Our level of indebtedness could limit our financial and operating activities and adversely affect our ability to incur 
additional debt to fund future needs.

At January 1, 2022, we had no outstanding debt under our revolving credit facility, and approximately $300 million of debt 
outstanding under our senior secured notes. Additionally, as of January 1, 2022, outstanding commitments under finance leases 
were $275 million. Our level of indebtedness could still have considerable consequences for us. For example, our substantial 
indebtedness could:

• make us more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions; 
• limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, and other general 

corporate requirements; 
• expose us to interest rate fluctuations because the interest rate on the debt under our revolving credit facility is 

variable; 
• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows to payments on our debt, thereby reducing the availability 

of our cash flows for operations and other purposes; 
• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business, and the industry in which we operate; and 
• place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that may have proportionately less debt, and therefore 

may be in a better position to obtain more favorable credit terms. 

If compliance with our debt obligations materially limits our financial or operating activities, or hinders our ability to adapt to 
changing industry conditions, we may lose market share, our revenue may decline and our operating results may be negatively 
affected.
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The instruments governing our indebtedness contain various covenants limiting the discretion of our management in 
operating our business, including requiring us to maintain a minimum level of excess liquidity.

Our revolving credit facility and senior secured notes contain various covenants and restrictions, including customary financial 
covenants that limit management’s discretion in operating our business. In particular, these instruments limit our ability to, 
among other things:

• incur additional debt;
• grant liens on assets;
• make investments;
• repurchase stock;
• pay dividends and make distributions;
• sell or acquire assets, including certain real estate assets, outside the ordinary course of business;
• engage in transactions with affiliates; and
• make fundamental business changes.

These covenants and restrictions could affect our ability to operate our business, and may limit our ability to react to market 
conditions or take advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise. Additionally, our ability to comply with these 
covenants may be affected by events beyond our control, including general economic and credit conditions and industry 
downturns.

If we fail to comply with these covenants and restrictions, a default may allow the creditors under the relevant instruments to 
accelerate the related debts and to exercise their remedies under these agreements, which typically will include the right to 
declare the principal amount of that debt, together with accrued and unpaid interest, and other related amounts, immediately due 
and payable, to exercise any remedies the creditors may have to foreclose on assets that are subject to liens securing that debt, 
and to terminate any commitments they had made to supply further funds. Refer to Note 6, Long-Term Debt, for further details.

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility bears interest at a variable rate, which subjects us to interest rate risk, which 
could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly.

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility is at variable rates of interest and expose us to interest rate risk. If interest rates 
increase, our debt service obligations on this variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed 
remained the same. Although we may elect in the future to take certain actions to reduce interest rate volatility in connection 
with our variable rate borrowings, we cannot provide assurances that we will be able to do so or that those actions will be 
effective. Our revolving credit facility includes available interest rate options based on the London Inter-bank Offered Rate 
(“LIBOR”). It is widely expected that LIBOR will be discontinued after June 30, 2023, and the U.S. and other countries are 
currently working to replace LIBOR with alternative reference rates. Our revolving credit facility provides procedures for 
determining an alternative base rate in the event that LIBOR is discontinued. Regardless, there can be no assurances as to what 
alternative base rates may be and whether such base rate will be more or less favorable than LIBOR. The consequences of these 
developments with respect to LIBOR cannot be entirely predicted; however, we do not believe that the discontinuation of 
LIBOR as a reference rate in our loan agreements will have a material adverse effect on our financial position or materially 
affect our interest expense.

Despite our current levels of debt, we may still incur more debt, which would increase the risks described in these risk 
factors relating to indebtedness.

The agreements relating to our debt significantly limit, but do not prohibit, our ability to incur additional debt. In addition, 
certain types of liabilities are not considered “Indebtedness” under the agreements relating to our debt. Accordingly, we could 
incur additional debt or similar liabilities in the future. If new debt or similar liabilities are added to our current debt levels, the 
related risks that we now face could increase.

We have sold and leased back certain of our distribution centers under long-term non-cancelable leases, and may enter into 
similar transactions in the future. All of these leases are (or will be) finance leases, and our debt and interest expense may 
increase as a result.

As a result of real estate financing transactions through sale-leaseback arrangements, a substantial number of our distribution 
centers are leased under non-cancelable leases. These leases typically have initial terms of approximately fifteen years, and 
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most provide options to renew for specified periods of time. We may enter into additional sale and lease-back transactions in 
the future. The leases resulting from these transactions are generally recognized and accounted for as finance leases, which may 
be counted as indebtedness, including for purposes of financial covenants in the agreements governing our debt, and may 
significantly increase the stated interest expense that is recognized in our income statements.

Many of our distribution centers are leased, and if we close a leased distribution center before expiration of the lease, we 
will still be obligated under the applicable lease. In addition, we may be unable to renew the leases at the end of their terms.

If we close a distribution center that is subject to a non-cancelable lease, we would remain committed to perform our 
obligations under the applicable lease, which would include, among other things, payment of the base rent, insurance, taxes, and 
other expenses on the leased property for the balance of the lease term. Management may explore offsets to remaining 
obligations, such as subleasing opportunities or negotiated lease terminations, but there can be no assurance that we can offset 
remaining obligations on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our obligation to continue making rental payments with 
respect to leases for closed distribution centers could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

In addition, at the end of a lease term and any renewal period for a leased distribution center, or for those locations where we 
have no renewal options remaining, we may be unable to renew the lease without additional cost, if at all. If we are unable to 
renew our distribution center leases, we may close or, if possible, relocate the distribution center, which could subject us to 
additional costs and risks which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, the revenue and profit 
generated at a relocated distribution center may not equal the revenue and profit generated at the previous location.

We may not have or be able to raise the funds necessary to finance a required repurchase of our senior secured notes.

Subject to certain exceptions, upon the occurrence of a change in control under the indenture governing our senior secured 
notes, we are required to offer to repurchase all of the outstanding notes. It is possible that we would not have sufficient funds 
at the time that we are required to make any such repurchase of our senior secured notes, and we cannot assure the holders of 
the senior secured notes that we will have sufficient financial resources, or will be able to arrange financing, to pay the 
repurchase price in cash with respect to any such notes upon a change in control. Our failure to repurchase the senior secured 
notes when required would result in an event of default with respect to such notes which could, in turn, constitute a default 
under the terms of our other indebtedness, if any.

Certain important corporate events, such as leveraged recapitalizations that would increase the level of our indebtedness, may 
not constitute a change in control under the indenture governing our senior secured notes.

A lowering or withdrawal of the ratings assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may increase our future 
borrowing costs and reduce our access to capital.

Any rating assigned to our debt could be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in that rating agency’s judgment, 
future circumstances relating to the basis of the rating, such as adverse changes, so warrant. Any future lowering of our ratings 
likely would make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing.

A change in our product mix could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our results may be affected by a change in our product mix. Our outlook, budgeting, and strategic planning assume a certain 
mix of product sales. If actual results vary from this projected mix of product sales, our financial results could be negatively 
impacted. Additionally, gross margins vary across our product lines. If the mix of products shifts from higher margin product 
categories to lower margin product categories, our overall gross margins and profitability may be adversely affected. 
Consequently, changes in our product mix could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and operating 
results.

Relatedly, our product sales to a customer may be dependent on the supplier and the brands we distribute. If we are unable to 
supply certain brands to our customers, then our ability to sell to existing customers and acquire new customers will be difficult 
to accomplish. As a result, our revenue, operating performance, cash flows, and net income may be adversely affected.

If petroleum or energy prices increase, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Petroleum and energy prices and availability of petroleum products are subject to political, economic, and market factors that 
are outside our control. Political events in petroleum-producing regions as well as hurricanes and other weather-related events 
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or natural disasters may cause the price of fuel to increase or the availability of fuel to decrease. Within our business units, we 
deliver products to our customers primarily via our fleet of trucks, which we fuel both onsite and through street fuel programs. 
Our operating profit may be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain the fuel we require or to fully offset the anticipated 
impact of higher fuel prices through increased prices or fuel surcharges to our customers. Besides passing fuel costs on to 
customers, we have at times entered into forward purchase contracts for fuel used at some of our facilities that protect against 
fuel price increases. If shortages occur in the supply of necessary petroleum products and we are not able to pass along the full 
impact of increased petroleum prices to our customers or otherwise protect ourselves by entering into forward purchase 
contracts, then our results of operations would be adversely affected. 

We establish insurance-related deductible/retention reserves based on historical loss development factors, which could lead 
to adjustments in the future based on actual development experience.

We retain a significant portion of the accident risk under our vehicle liability and workers’ compensation insurance programs; 
and we are self-insured for health insurance, the exposure of which is limited by stop-loss coverage. Our self-insurance accruals 
are based on actuarial estimated, undiscounted cost of claims, which includes claims incurred but not reported. While we 
believe our estimation processes are well designed, every estimation process is inherently subject to limitations. Fluctuations in 
the frequency or amount of claims make it difficult to precisely predict the ultimate cost of claims. The actual cost of claims can 
be different than the historical selected loss development factors because of safety performance, payment patterns, and 
settlement patterns.

The value of our deferred tax assets could become impaired, which could materially and adversely affect our operating 
results.

As of January 1, 2022, we had approximately $60 million in net deferred tax assets. These deferred tax assets include temporary 
differences arising from such items as property, plant and equipment, accrued compensation, and accounting reserves related to 
inventory and other items in conjunction with net state operating loss carryovers that can be used to offset taxable income in 
future periods and reduce income taxes payable in those future periods. Each quarter, we determine the probability of the 
realization of deferred tax assets, using significant judgments and estimates with respect to, among other things, historical 
operating results, expectations of future earnings, and tax planning strategies. For example, we were required to evaluate and 
maintain reasonable valuation allowances against our remaining state net operating loss carryforwards against our U.S. deferred 
tax assets as of January 1, 2022. These valuation allowances are calculated based on the probability that we will not realize 
taxable income in the states in which we carry net operating loss carryforwards in a time suitable to take advantage of them. If 
we determine in the future that there is not sufficient positive evidence to support the remaining valuation of our deferred tax 
assets, either due to the risk factors described herein or other factors which may impact our net operating carryforwards or other 
components of our deferred tax assets such as our temporary differences which may arise from tax legislation which we cannot 
foresee, we may be required to further adjust the valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets, in specific areas or in 
total. Such a reduction could result in material non-cash expenses in the period in which the valuation allowance is adjusted and 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Our expected annual effective tax rate could be volatile and materially change as a result of changes in mix of earnings and 
other factors.

Our overall effective tax rate is equal to our total income tax expense, also referred to as provision for income taxes, as a 
percentage of our income or loss before provision for income taxes. However, tax expenses and benefits are determined 
separately for each tax paying entity or group of entities that is consolidated for tax purposes in each jurisdiction. Losses in 
certain jurisdictions may provide no current financial statement tax benefit. As a result, changes in the mix of profits and losses 
between jurisdictions, among other factors, could have a significant impact on our overall effective tax rate. New and 
unforeseen changes in tax legislation may impact our effective tax rate in future periods, both on a federal and state level, which 
may have an impact on our net income and result in material non-cash expenses in the relevant period.

Changes in actuarial assumptions for our pension plan could impact our financial results, and funding requirements are 
mandated by the Federal government.

We sponsor a defined benefit pension plan. Most of the participants in our pension plan are inactive, with all remaining active 
participants no longer accruing benefits, and the pension plan is closed to new entrants. However, unfavorable changes in 
various assumptions underlying the pension benefit obligation could adversely impact our financial results. Significant 
assumptions include, but are not limited to, the discount rate, projected return on plan assets, and mortality rates. In addition, 
the amount and timing of our pension funding obligations are influenced by funding requirements that are established by the 
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Employee Retirement Income and Security Act of 1974, the Pension Protection Act, Congressional Acts, or other governing 
bodies.

Costs and liabilities related to our participation in multi-employer pension plans could increase.

We are involved in various multi-employer pension plans in the U.S. based on obligations arising under collective bargaining 
agreements. Some of these plans are significantly underfunded and may require increased contributions in the future. The 
amount of any increase or decrease in our required contributions to these multi-employer pension plans will depend upon the 
outcome of collective bargaining, actions taken by trustees who manage the plan, governmental regulations, the actual return on 
assets held in the plan, the continued viability and contributions of other employers which contribute to the plan, and the 
potential payment of a withdrawal liability, among other factors.

Our cash flows and capital resources may be insufficient to make required payments on our indebtedness or future 
indebtedness.

Our ability to make scheduled payments under our revolving credit facility and senior secured notes depends on our successful 
financial and operating performance, cash flows, and capital resources, which in turn depend upon prevailing economic 
conditions and certain financial, business, and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include, 
among others:

• economic and demand factors affecting the building products distribution industry; 
• external factors affecting availability of credit; 
• pricing pressures; 
• increased operating costs; 
• competitive conditions; and
• other operating difficulties.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay 
capital expenditures, sell material assets or operations, obtain additional capital, or restructure our debt. There is no assurance 
that we could obtain additional capital or refinance our debt on terms acceptable to us, or at all. If we are required to dispose of 
material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations, the value realized on the disposition of such assets 
or operations will depend on market conditions and the availability of buyers. Accordingly, any such sale may not, among other 
things, be for a sufficient dollar amount to repay our indebtedness. If we do not make scheduled payments on our debt, we will 
be in default and the outstanding principal and interest on our debt could be declared to be due and payable, in which case we 
could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation or required to substantially restructure or alter our business operations or debt 
obligations.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

We could be the subject of securities class action litigation due to stock price volatility, which could divert management’s 
attention and adversely affect our results of operations.

The stock market in general, and market prices for the securities of companies like ours in particular, have from time to time 
experienced volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of the underlying companies. These broad 
market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating 
performance. In certain situations in which the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have instituted 
securities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders were to bring a similar 
lawsuit against us, the defense and disposition of the lawsuit could be costly and divert the time and attention of our 
management and harm our operating results.

The activities of activist stockholders could have a negative impact on our business and results of operations.

While we seek to actively engage with stockholders and consider their views on business and strategy, we could be subject to 
actions or proposals from stockholders or others that do not align with our business strategies or the interests of our other 
stockholders. Responding to these stockholders could be costly and time-consuming, disrupt our business and operations, and 
divert the attention of our Board of Directors and senior management. Uncertainties associated with such activities could 
interfere with our ability to effectively execute our strategic plan, impact long-term growth, and limit our ability to hire and 
retain personnel. In addition, actions of these stockholders may cause periods of fluctuation in our stock price based on 
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ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes and other 
financial information appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, the following discussion 
and other parts of this Form 10-K contain forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties. Our actual results 
could differ materially from those anticipated by this forward-looking information due to the factors discussed under “Risk 
Factors,” “Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements,” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.  

This section of this Form 10-K does not address certain items regarding the fiscal year ended December 28, 2019 (“fiscal 
2019”). Discussion and analysis of fiscal 2019 and year-to-year comparisons between fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 not included 
in this Form 10-K can be found in “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2021.

Executive Level Overview

Company Background

BlueLinx is a leading wholesale distributor of residential and commercial building products in the United States. We are a 
“two-step” distributor. Two-step distributors purchase products from manufacturers and distribute those products to dealers and 
other suppliers in local markets, who then sell those products to end users. We carry a broad portfolio of both branded and 
private-label stock keeping units (“SKUs”) across two principal product categories: specialty products and structural products. 
Specialty products include items such as engineered wood, industrial products, cedar, moulding, siding, metal products, and 
insulation. Structural products include items such as lumber, plywood, oriented strand board, rebar, and remesh. We also 
provide a wide range of value-added services and solutions aimed at relieving distribution and logistics challenges for our 
customers and suppliers, while enhancing their marketing and inventory management capabilities.

We sell products through three main distribution channels, consisting of warehouse sales, reload sales, and direct sales. 
Warehouse sales, which generate the majority of our sales, are delivered from our warehouses to our customers. Reload sales 
are similar to warehouse sales but are shipped from warehouses, most of which are operated by third-parties, where we store 
owned products to enhance operating efficiencies. This channel is employed primarily to service strategic customers that would 
be less economical to service from our warehouses, and to distribute large volumes of imported products from port facilities.

Direct sales are shipped from the manufacturer to the customer without our taking physical possession of the inventory and, as a 
result, typically generate lower margins than our warehouse and reload distribution channels. This distribution channel, 
however, requires the lowest amount of committed capital and fixed costs.

With a strong market position, broad geographic coverage footprint servicing over 40 states, and the strength of a locally 
focused sales force, as a two-step wholesale distributor, we distribute a comprehensive range of products from over 750 
suppliers, including some of the leading manufacturers in the industry, such as Ply Gem, Huber Engineered Woods, Georgia-
Pacific, Allura, James Hardie, Fiberon, Royal, Oldcastle APG, Louisiana-Pacific, and Weyerhaeuser. We supply products to a 
broad base of over 15,000 national, regional, and local dealers, specialty distributors, national home centers, and manufactured 
housing customers, many of whom then serve residential and commercial builders and contractors in their respective 
geographic areas and local markets.

As a value-added partner in a complex and demanding building products supply chain, we play a critical role in enabling our 
customers to offer a broad range of products and brands, as most of our customers do not have the capability to purchase and 
warehouse products directly from manufacturers for such a large set of SKUs. The depth of our geographic footprint supports 
meaningful customer proximity across all the markets in which we operate, enabling faster and more efficient service. 
Similarly, we provide value to our supplier partners by enabling access to the large and fragmented network of lumber yards 
and dealers that those suppliers could not adequately serve directly. Our position in this distribution model for building products 
provides easy access to the marketplace for our suppliers and the value proposition of rapid delivery on an as-needed basis to 
our customers from our network of warehouse facilities. 

Significant Recent Transactions and Developments 

Term Loan Facility

As of January 2, 2021, we had outstanding borrowings of $43.2 million under our senior secured term loan facility. On April 2, 
2021, we repaid the remaining outstanding principal balance under the facility and the facility was terminated. As a result, as of 
January 1, 2022, we had no outstanding borrowings under the term loan facility. In connection with our repayment of the 
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facility, we expensed $5.8 million of debt issuance costs during the first quarter of fiscal 2021 that we had been amortizing in 
connection with the facility. These costs are included within interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. While the facility was 
paid in full as of April 2, 2021, our average interest rate under the facility, exclusive of fees and prepayment premiums, was 8.2 
percent and 8.0 percent for the years ended January 2, 2021 and January 1, 2022, respectively.

Amendment of our Revolving Credit Facility

On August 2, 2021, we amended our revolving credit facility to, among other things, (i) extend the maturity date of the facility 
from October 10, 2022, to August 2, 2026, (ii) amend the Borrowing Base (as such term is defined under the facility) to include 
a certain portion of the assets of acquired companies prior to the conduct of a field exam or appraisals thereof by the agent, (iii) 
modify certain definitions and various affirmative and negative covenants to provide additional flexibility for the Company, and 
(iv) add customary LIBOR replacement language.

In addition, the amended revolving credit facility now provides for interest on borrowings at a rate per annum equal to (i) 
LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.75 percent, with the amount of such margin determined based upon the 
average of our excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as calculated by the agent, for loans based on 
LIBOR, or (ii) the base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.25 percent to 0.75 percent, with the amount of such margin 
determined based upon the average of our excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as calculated by the 
agent, for loans based on the base rate, reflecting a decrease of 0.50 percent to the upper limit of each respective margin tier.

As of January 1, 2022, we had zero outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility. 

Share Repurchase Program

On August 23, 2021, we announced our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program pursuant to which we may 
repurchase up to $25 million of our common stock. Under the program, we may repurchase our common stock at any time or 
from time to time, without prior notice, subject to prevailing market conditions and other considerations. Our repurchases may 
be made through a variety of methods, which may include open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or pursuant 
to a trading plan that may be adopted in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 10b5-1. As of the date 
of this filing, we have repurchased no shares under this program.

Senior Secured Notes Transaction

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we completed a private offering of $300 million of our six percent senior secured notes due 
2029 (the “2029 Notes”). The 2029 Notes were issued to investors at 98.625 percent of their principal amount and will mature 
on November 15, 2029. The majority of net proceeds from the offering of the 2029 Notes were used to repay borrowings under 
our revolving credit facility. In conjunction with this offering, we also amended the revolving credit facility to reduce the credit 
limit from $600 million to $350 million. In conjunction with the reduction of the credit limit of our revolving credit facility, we 
expensed approximately $1.6 million of debt issuance costs during the fourth quarter of 2021. These costs are included within 
interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in 
our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Real Estate Transactions

During fiscal 2021, we sold two non-operating facilities that were previously identified as “held for sale”. During the first 
quarter, we sold our non-operating facility located in Birmingham, Alabama, and recognized a gain of $1.3 million in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income, as a result of this sale. Proceeds from this transaction was 
used to pay down our term loan facility. Additionally, during the fourth quarter, we sold our non-operating facility located in 
Houston, Texas. We recognized a gain of $7.1 million in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income 
as a result of this sale. 

Factors That Affect Our Operating Results and Trends

Our results of operations and financial performance are influenced by a variety of factors, including: (i) the commodity nature 
of the products we manufacture and distribute; (ii) general economic and industry conditions affecting demand in the housing 
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metropolitan areas to areas with single-family homes may help sustain the improvement in single-family housing starts. We 
believe the housing market improvement trend will continue in the long term, and that we are well-positioned to support our 
customers. For additional information regarding the risk factors impacting our business, please refer to Part I, Item 1A, Risk 
Factors.

Cost and Availability of the Products We Distribute

The specialty products we distribute are available from select suppliers from which we have established and cultivated 
relationships in the specific markets we serve. The structural products we distribute are available from a variety of suppliers. As 
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, manufacturing output was impacted on both the specialty and structural sides of our 
business. Supply constraints which arose from reduced mill output as a result of the pandemic had an impact on both the 
availability and pricing of our structural products which contributed to increased market prices throughout the year. Reduced 
manufacturing capacity combined with increased demand for our specialty products also had an impact on the products we 
distribute in this category, namely vinyl siding. The continued availability of both specialty and structural products may have an 
impact on our operating results and are discussed in more detail in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors. 

COVID-19 Pandemic

We began preparations for the COVID-19 pandemic in late February 2020, and in early March 2020 we implemented policies 
and procedures to protect our associates, serve our customers, and support our suppliers. We also moved quickly to develop and 
execute plans and take actions designed to give financial and operating flexibility during the pandemic. 

During fiscal 2021, we continued to practice safety and hygiene protocols consistent with the Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention (“CDC”) and local guidance. We also continued our efforts to reduce operating costs and optimize liquidity and 
took actions designed to sustain many of our first and second quarter cost reduction actions long-term. Our cost structure and 
liquidity have and will remain areas of acute focus for us as the pandemic continues.

While the pandemic impacted many aspects of our business and operations during fiscal 2021, that impact was offset by the 
recovery in single-family residential housing starts, supply and demand imbalances for the products we distribute, and the 
escalation in wood-based commodity pricing. 

The extent of the impact of the pandemic on our business for fiscal 2021 will depend on future developments, including, among 
others, the duration of the pandemic, the success of actions taken by governmental authorities to contain the pandemic and 
address its impact, the success of local return to work and business continuity plans, stabilizing in the labor markets and the 
impact the COVID-19 pandemic has on the supply chain, pricing, and demand in the markets we service. The trajectory of the 
pandemic continues to evolve rapidly, and we cannot predict the extent to which our financial condition, results of operation, or 
cash flows will ultimately be impacted. We are closely monitoring the impact of the pandemic on industry conditions, the labor 
markets, and any pandemic related restrictions that may have an impact on our business.

CARES Act

In an attempt to assist businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (“CARES”) Act on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act contained several provisions, including tax-based 
measures, meant to counteract the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. After review of the many provisions, we took advantage 
of several of the provisions, including the deferral of our defined benefit plan pension contribution, deferral of the payment of 
employer payroll taxes, and the increase in the percentage of allowable percentage of interest expense under Section 163(j) of 
the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”).

During fiscal 2020, as a result of the CARES Act, we elected to defer the payment of employer payroll taxes that would 
normally be paid during fiscal 2020. The total amount of our payroll tax deferral under the CARES Act was approximately $7.3 
million. These taxes are required to be paid in two tranches, with 50 percent due by the end of 2021 and 50 percent due by the 
end of 2022. We made payments of approximately $3.2 million in December 2021 and will make payments for the remaining 
$3.1 million by December 2022.	
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Discussion of Results of Operations

Net sales of $4.3 billion in fiscal 2021, an increase of 38.1 percent, or $1.2 billion, from fiscal 2020. When normalized for the 
additional week in our fiscal year 2020, our fiscal year 2021 sales increased 40.7 percent. This increase was driven by robust 
demand for home building products amid broad-based supply constraints across the U.S. home building products industry, 
significant year-over-year inflation in the average price of wood-based commodity products, and disciplined pricing strategies. 
Total volume decreased modestly year-over-year reflecting the impact of supply constraints offset by strategic actions we 
implemented to emphasize growth in higher value specialty product categories. Our fiscal 2021 results also reflect a more 
disciplined approach to structural inventory purchases in order to manage risk associated with fluctuations in wood-based 
commodity prices. This approach resulted in less on-hand market-sensitive inventory for our structural products category which 
impacted the volume of structural products we had available to sell throughout the year.

Net sales of specialty products, which includes engineered wood, industrial products, cedar, moulding, siding, metal products 
and insulation, increased $655.2 million to $2.5 billion in fiscal year 2021. This increase was primarily driven by favorable
demand and strategic pricing actions. Gross profit within our specialty products, increased $241.9 million to $561.5 million, 
with a year-over-year improvement of approximately 75.7 percent. The increase in our specialty products gross margin 
percentages during fiscal 2021 was the result of substantial increases in pricing, driven by an increased demand paired with the 
supply constrained environment, although overall volume was down compared to fiscal year 2020.

Net sales of structural products, which includes products such as lumber, plywood, oriented strand board, rebar, and remesh, 
increased $524.7 million to $1.8 billion during fiscal 2021 due to commodity wood products price inflation. Structural sales 
volumes declined overall versus the prior-year period given our reduction in purchases in response to historic fluctuations in the 
wood-based commodity markets. Our structural gross margin percentage for fiscal 2021 was 12.3%, slightly down from 12.8% 
in the prior year period. 

Fiscal 2021, selling, general, and administrative expenses increased 2.5 percent, or $8.0 million, compared to fiscal 2020. The 
increase in sales, general, and administrative expenses is due to net increases in our variable compensation, such as sales 
commissions and incentives of approximately $5.9 million, general and administration cost of approximately $4.5 million. 
These increases were partially offset by a decrease in payroll and related cost of approximately $1.4 million and logistics 
decrease of approximately $1.0 million. When normalized for the additional operating week in fiscal 2020, our fiscal 2021 
selling, general and administrative expenses increased $13.9 million. Depreciation and amortization expense decreased 2.5 
percent, or $0.7 million, compared to 2020. The decrease in depreciation and amortization expense is due to a lower base of 
amortizable and depreciable assets throughout fiscal 2021 when compared to the prior year period.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, we completed the sale leaseback of one of our Denver facilities which resulted in a 
gain from the sale of property of $10.5 million during the fourth quarter. During fiscal year 2021, we completed the sale of two 
non-operational properties resulting in a gain of $8.4 million. Our Birmingham property, which we sold in the first quarter of 
fiscal year 2021, resulted in a gain of $1.3 million, and our Houston property, which we sold in the fourth quarter, resulted in a 
gain from the sale of $7.1 million. Other operating expenses decreased 66.5 percent, or $4.6 million, compared to fiscal 2020 
primarily due to a decrease in spending related to integration and restructuring related costs reported during fiscal 2021.

Our interest expense, net, for fiscal 2021, decreased by 4.0 percent, or $1.9 million, compared to the prior year period. The 
decrease is primarily due to the repayment in full of our former term loan facility at the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2021, 
under which borrowings bore a higher interest rate than under either our revolving credit facility or our senior secured notes. 
Interest savings were further driven by lower interest costs resulting from the renegotiation of our revolving credit facility in the 
third quarter of fiscal 2021. This was offset by the $7.4 million in debt issuance costs expensed during the first and third 
quarters of fiscal 2021 related to the extinguishment of our former term loan facility and credit limit reduction of our revolving 
credit facility. 

Our effective tax rate was 24.8 percent and 14.9 percent for fiscal 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our effective tax rate for both 
periods was impacted by the permanent addback of certain nondeductible expenses, including meals and entertainment and 
executive compensation, and the effect of our partial release of our valuation allowance for separate company state income tax 
losses. Our effective tax rate for fiscal 2020 was additionally impacted by a tax benefit resulting from the effect of the partial 
release of our valuation allowance for previously nondeductible interest resulting from changes allowed under Section 163(j) of 
the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) as a result of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act that was 
enacted on March 27, 2020 which raised the allowable percentage of deductible interest from 30 percent to 50 percent of 
adjusted taxable income.
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Our net income for fiscal 2021 increased $215.3 million from the prior year period primarily due to the increase in gross profit 
resulting from substantial price increases benefiting our specialty products combined with benefits from commodity price 
inflation when compared to prior year. Increases in gross profit were further supported by gains from the sales of non-
operational property, our former Birmingham and Houston properties, during the fiscal year 2021 offset by an increase in our 
selling, general and administrative expense resulting primarily from higher commissions arising from our higher gross profit 
during the year. Additionally, net income benefited from slightly lower interest expense offset by higher income tax expense 
resulting from our higher effective tax rate.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect our material cash requirements for the next twelve months will be for our:

• Periodic estimated income tax payments, as required; 
• Periodic interest payments associated with our senior secured notes, as discussed in Note 6; 
• Lease agreements which have fixed lease payment obligations, as discussed in Note 11.

We expect our primary sources of liquidity to be cash flows from sales and operating activities in the normal course of our 
operations and availability from our revolving credit facility, as needed. We expect that these sources will be sufficient to fund 
our ongoing cash requirements for the foreseeable future, including at least the next twelve months. 

Sources and Uses of Cash

Operating Activities

Fiscal 2021 cash flows provided by operating activities totaled $145.0 million. This cash activity was primarily driven by net 
income of $296.1 million, which included a non-cash charge for debt-issuance costs expensed during the period for our 
extinguished term loan facility and reduced revolving credit facility of $7.4 million in addition to a non-cash adjustment for our 
gains on sales of property of $8.4 million combined with changes in our working capital components. The changes in working 
capital components resulted in a decrease in cash due to an increase in accounts receivables of $46.0 million and an increase 
inventory of $146.4 million offset by an increase in cash due to an increase in accounts payable of $14.8 million. 

Fiscal 2020 cash flows used in operating activities totaled $55.0 million. This cash activity was primarily driven by net income 
of $80.9 million, which included a non-cash adjustment for our gains on sale of properties of $10.5 million and changes in 
working capital components. The changes in working capital components included a decrease in cash due to an increase in 
accounts receivable of $100.8 million offset by an increase in cash due to a decrease in inventory of $3.7 million and an 
increase in accounts payable of $32.8 million. 

Investing Activities

During fiscal 2021, our net cash used by investing activities was $4.1 million, which was substantially driven by cash received 
from the sale of real estate of $10.3 million, offset by cash paid for investments in property and equipment of $14.4 million. In 
2021, $9.0 million in cash was invested in the fourth quarter and of that $9.0 million, approximately $6.4 million was for new 
curtain side trailers for our delivery fleet.
 
During fiscal 2020, our net cash provided by investing activities was $9.2 million, which was substantially driven by cash 
received from the sale of real estate of $12.8 million, offset by cash paid for investments in equipment of $3.7 million. 

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $55.8 million during fiscal 2021, which primarily reflected the repayments of the 
remaining $43.2 million balance on our term loan and net repayments on our revolving credit facility of $286.6 million, in 
addition to payments on finance leases of $11.2 million, debt financing costs of $5.5 million and repurchase of shares to satisfy 
employee tax withholdings on the vesting of restricted stock units of $5.2 million, all of which were offset by proceeds from the 
sale of our senior secured notes, net of discount, of $295.9 million.

Net cash used in financing activities was $75.7 million during fiscal 2020, which primarily reflected repayments on our term 
loan of $103.5 million and net repayments on our revolving credit facility of $38.3 million, in addition to payments on our 
finance leases of $8.7 million and debt financing costs of $3.4 million, all of which were partially offset by proceeds from real 
estate financing transactions of $78.3 million. 
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Term Loan Facility

As of January 2, 2021, we had outstanding borrowings of $43.2 million under our senior secured term loan facility. On April 2, 
2021, we repaid the remaining outstanding principal balance under the facility and the facility was terminated. As a result, as of 
January 1, 2022, we had no outstanding borrowings under the term loan facility. In connection with our repayment of the 
facility, we expensed $5.8 million of debt issuance costs during the first quarter of fiscal 2021 that we had been amortizing in 
connection with the facility. These costs are included within interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. While the facility was 
paid in full as of April 2, 2021, our average interest rate under the facility, exclusive of fees and prepayment premiums, was 8.2 
percent and 8.0 percent for the years ended January 2, 2021 and January 1, 2022, respectively.

Amendment of our Revolving Credit Facility

On August 2, 2021, we amended our revolving credit facility to, among other things, (i) extend the maturity date of the facility 
from October 10, 2022, to August 2, 2026, (ii) amend the Borrowing Base (as such term is defined under the facility) to include 
a certain portion of the assets of acquired companies prior to the conduct of a field exam or appraisals thereof by the agent, (iii) 
modify certain definitions and various affirmative and negative covenants to provide additional flexibility for the Company, and 
(iv) add customary LIBOR replacement language.

In addition, the amended revolving credit facility now provides for interest on borrowings at a rate per annum equal to (i) 
LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.75 percent, with the amount of such margin determined based upon the 
average of our excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as calculated by the agent, for loans based on 
LIBOR, or (ii) the base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.25 percent to 0.75 percent, with the amount of such margin 
determined based upon the average of our excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as calculated by the 
agent, for loans based on the base rate, reflecting a decrease of 0.50 percent to the upper limit of each respective margin tier.

As of January 1, 2022, we had zero outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility. 

Senior Secured Notes Transaction

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we completed a private offering of $300 million of our six percent senior secured notes due 
2029 (the “2029 Notes”). The 2029 Notes were issued to investors at 98.625 percent of their principal amount and will mature 
on November 15, 2029. The majority of net proceeds from the offering of the 2029 Notes were used to repay borrowings under 
our revolving credit facility. In conjunction with this offering, we also amended the revolving credit facility to reduce the credit 
limit from $600 million to $350 million. In conjunction with the reduction of the credit limit of our revolving credit facility, we 
expensed approximately $1.6 million of debt issuance costs during the fourth quarter of 2021. These costs are included within 
interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in 
our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Finance Lease Commitments

Our finance lease liabilities consist of leases related to equipment and vehicles, and to real estate, with the majority of those 
finance lease commitments relating to the real estate financing transactions that we completed in recent years. During fiscal 
2020, we completed real estate financing transactions on two warehouse facilities; and during fiscal 2021, we completed real 
estate financing transactions on fourteen warehouse facilities. We recognized financing lease assets and obligations as a result 
of each of these real estate transactions. We also entered into new finance lease agreements for new tractors for our fleet 
totaling $3.8 million and $10.5 million during fiscal 2020 and 2021, respectively. Our total finance lease commitments, 
including the properties associated with these transactions, totaled $274.7 million and $273.1 million as of January 1, 2022 and 
January 2, 2021, respectively. Of the $274.7 million of finance lease commitments as of January 1, 2022, $244.0 million related 
to real estate and $30.7 million related to equipment. Of the $273.1 million of finance lease commitments as of January 2, 2021, 
$243.7 million related to real estate and $29.4 million related to equipment.
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Investments in Property and Equipment

Our investments in property and equipment consist of cash paid for owned assets and the inception of financing lease 
arrangements for long-lived assets to support our distribution infrastructure. The gross value of these assets are included in their 
respective category in the “Property and equipment, at cost” section on our consolidated balance sheet. For fiscal 2021, we 
invested $14.4 million in cash related to investments in long-lived assets and entered into finance leases totaling $10.5 million, 
for a total investment of $24.9 million. For fiscal 2020, we invested $3.7 million in cash related to investments in long-lived 
assets and entered into finance lease agreements totaling $3.8 million, for a total investments of $7.5 million. 

Pension Funding Obligations

We were required to make cash contributions during 2021 and 2020 totaling approximately $0.3 million and $0.8 million, 
respectively, relating to our fiscal 2021 and also fiscal 2020 funding year pension contributions. We continue to evaluate 
pension funding obligations and requirements in order to meet our obligations while maintaining flexibility for working capital 
requirements. See Note 8, Employee Benefits, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Rates

Our revolving credit facility includes available interest rate options based on LIBOR. It is widely expected that LIBOR will be 
discontinued after June 30, 2023, and the U.S. and other countries are currently working to replace LIBOR with alternative 
reference rates. The consequences of these development with respect to LIBOR cannot be entirely predicted; however, we do 
not believe that the discontinuation of LIBOR as a reference rate in our loan agreements will have a material adverse effect on 
our financial position or materially affect our interest expense.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of January 1, 2022, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., 
which require management to make estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements and accompanying notes. We believe that our most critical accounting policies and estimates relate to: (1) 
pension benefit obligation; (2) revenue recognition; (3) goodwill; and (4) income taxes.

Accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section are those that we consider to be the most critical to an 
understanding of our financial statements because they involve significant judgments and uncertainties. All of these estimates 
reflect our best judgment about current, and for some estimates future, economic and market conditions and their potential 
effects based on information available as of the date of these financial statements. If these conditions change from those 
expected, it is reasonably possible that the judgments and estimates described below could change, which may result in our 
recording additional pension liabilities, or increased tax liabilities, among other effects.

Management has discussed the development, selection, and disclosure of critical accounting policies and estimates with the 
Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. While our estimates and assumptions are based on our knowledge of 
current events and actions we may undertake in the future, actual results ultimately may differ from these estimates and 
assumptions. For a discussion of the Company’s significant accounting policies, see Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pension Benefit Obligation

As discussed in Note 8 of the consolidated financial statements, our pension benefit obligation was $105.9 million and 
exceeded the fair value of pension plan assets of $94.3 million, resulting in an unfunded obligation of $11.6 million. The 
estimation of the pension benefit obligation is dependent on actuarial methods and the selection of assumptions, such as the 
applicable discount rate and mortality rates. These assumptions have a significant effect on the projected benefit obligation.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criteria are met: (1) Contract with the customer has been identified; (2) Performance 
obligations in the contract have been identified; (3) Transaction price has been determined; (4) The transaction price has been 
allocated to the performance obligations; and (5) When (or as) performance obligations are satisfied. For us, this generally 
means that we recognize revenue when title to our products is transferred to our customers. Title usually transfers upon 
shipment to, or receipt at, our customers’ locations, as determined by the specific sales terms of each transaction. Our customers 
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can earn certain incentives including, but not limited to, cash discounts and rebates. These incentives are deducted from revenue 
recognized. In preparing the financial statements, management must make estimates related to the contractual terms, customer 
performance, and sales volume to determine the total amounts recorded as deductions from revenue. Management also 
considers past results in making such estimates. The actual amounts ultimately paid may be different from our estimates, and 
recorded once they have been determined.

Goodwill 

Goodwill is not subject to amortization, and is tested for impairment at least annually. We perform our annual goodwill 
impairment test as of the first day of our fiscal fourth quarter. This test requires us to assign goodwill to a reporting unit and to 
determine if the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is less than its carrying amount. We have identified that we have a 
single reporting unit and we assign our goodwill to that reporting unit. As of January 1, 2022, our goodwill was $47.8 million. 

We also evaluate goodwill for impairment between annual impairment tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that 
would indicate the carrying amounts may be impaired. Such events and indicators may include, without limitation, significant 
declines in the industries in which our products are used, significant changes in capital market conditions, and significant 
changes in our market capitalization.

Income Taxes

Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statutory tax rates, and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various 
jurisdictions in which we operate. Significant judgment is required in determining our annual tax expense and in evaluating our 
tax positions. We establish reserves to remove some or all of the tax benefit of any of our tax positions at the time we determine 
that the positions become uncertain based upon one of the following: (1) the tax position is not “more likely than not” to be 
sustained; (2) the tax position is “more likely than not” to be sustained, but for a lesser amount; or (3) the tax position is “more 
likely than not” to be sustained, but not in the financial period in which the tax position was originally taken. For purposes of 
evaluating whether or not a tax position is uncertain, (1) we presume the tax position will be examined by the relevant taxing 
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information, (2) the technical merits of a tax position are derived from 
authorities such as legislation and statutes, legislative intent, regulations, rulings, and case law and their applicability to the 
facts and circumstances of the tax position, and (3) each tax position is evaluated without considerations of the possibility of 
offset or aggregation with other tax positions taken. We adjust these reserves, including any impact on the related interest and 
penalties, in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the progress of a tax audit. Refer to Note 5, Income Taxes, in the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

A number of years may elapse before a particular matter for which we have established a reserve is audited and finally resolved. 
The number of years with open tax audits varies depending on the tax jurisdiction. The tax benefit that has been previously 
reserved because of a failure to meet the “more likely than not” recognition threshold would be recognized in our income tax 
expense in the first interim period when the uncertainty disappears under any one of the following conditions: (1) the tax 
position is “more likely than not” to be sustained; (2) the tax position, amount, and/or timing is ultimately settled through 
negotiation or litigation; or (3) the statute of limitations for the tax position has expired. Settlement of any particular issue 
would usually require the use of cash.

On March 27, 2020, the U.S. government enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act, which 
contained a tax provision that increased the allowable deductible percentage of interest expense from 30 percent to 50 percent. 
This resulted in the company being able to immediately recognize a $3.9 million benefit in the first quarter of 2020. As a result 
of our income in 2020, we were able to release the remaining valuation allowance at year end. During fiscal year 2021, we had 
no impact to our income tax provision resulting from the CARES Act. 

Tax law requires items to be included in the tax return at different times than when these items are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements. As a result, the annual tax rate reflected in our consolidated financial statements is different from that 
reported in our tax return (our cash tax rate). Some of these differences are permanent, such as expenses that are not deductible 
in our tax return, and some differences reverse over time, such as depreciation expense. These timing differences create 
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the 
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The tax rates used to determine deferred tax assets or liabilities are the 
enacted tax rates in effect for the year and manner in which the differences are expected to reverse. Based on the evaluation of 
available information, we recognize future tax benefits, such as net operating loss carryforwards, to the extent that realizing 
these benefits is considered more likely than not. 

We evaluate our ability to realize the tax benefits associated with deferred tax assets by analyzing our forecasted taxable income 
using both historical and projected future operating results, the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, taxable 
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income in prior carryback years (if permitted), and the availability of tax planning strategies. A valuation allowance is required 
to be established unless management determines that it is more likely than not that we will ultimately realize the tax benefit 
associated with a deferred tax asset. As of January 1, 2022, positive evidence continued to outweigh negative evidence, as such 
no valuation allowance was deemed necessary except to the extent of certain state net operating losses. The valuation 
allowances related to our net operating losses as of January 1, 2022 was approximately $4.3 million. See Note 5, Income Taxes, 
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

For a summary of recent accounting pronouncements applicable to our consolidated financial statements, see Note 1, Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide this information.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of BlueLinx Holdings Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. (the Company) as of January 1, 2022, 
the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for 
the fiscal year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our 
opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at 
January 1, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2022, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(2013 framework) and our report dated February 22, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that 
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that 
are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex 
judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on 
the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of the Pension Benefit Obligation

Description of the 
Matter

As discussed in Note 8 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s pension benefit 
obligation was $105.9 million and exceeded the fair value of pension plan assets of $94.3 
million, resulting in an unfunded obligation of $11.6 million. The estimation of the pension 
benefit obligation is dependent on actuarial methods and the selection of assumptions, such as 
the applicable discount rate and mortality rates. Auditing the valuation of the pension benefit 
obligation was complex due to the judgmental nature of the actuarial assumptions used in the 
valuation process. These assumptions have a significant effect on the pension benefit obligation.
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How We Addressed the 
Matter in Our Audit

We tested controls that address the risks of material misstatements related to the 
valuation of the pension benefit obligations. For example, we tested controls over 
management’s review of the methodology used, significant actuarial assumptions, 
including management’s review of the selected discount and mortality rates with the 
Company’s external actuary, and the completeness and accuracy of the data inputs 
provided to the external actuary.

To test the pension benefit obligation, our audit procedures included, among others, 
evaluating the methodology used, the significant actuarial assumptions discussed above, 
and the underlying data used by the Company. We compared the actuarial assumptions 
used by management to its historical accounting practices and evaluated the change in 
the pension benefit obligation from the prior year due to the change in interest cost, 
actuarial loss and benefits paid. In addition, we involved an actuarial specialist to assist 
with our procedures. For example, the discount rate reflects the rates at which benefits 
could effectively be settled and is based on current investment yields of high-quality 
corporate bonds. The Company uses an actuarially-developed full yield curve approach 
in establishing its discount rate. We evaluated management’s methodology for 
determining the discount rate that reflects the maturity and duration of the benefit 
payments. As part of this assessment, we developed an upper and lower yield curve using 
high quality bonds with characteristics appropriate for testing the development of the 
Company’s yield curve to evaluate its reasonability. To evaluate the mortality rate, we 
assessed whether the information was consistent with publicly available information, and 
whether any entity-specific adjustments were applied. We also tested the completeness 
and accuracy of the underlying data, including the participant data provided to 
management’s actuarial specialists.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021.  

Atlanta, Georgia 
February 22, 2022

40



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of 
BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries
Marietta, Georgia
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as 
of January 2, 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity (deficit), 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial 
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company at January 2, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered 
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities 
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provided a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended January 2, 2021 that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates 
to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, 
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, 
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Assessment of the Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets

As described in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has recognized net deferred tax assets of 
$62.9 million as of January 2, 2021. The Company evaluates its ability to realize the tax benefits associated with deferred tax 
assets by analyzing the forecasted future taxable income using both historical and projected future operating results, the reversal 
of existing taxable temporary differences, taxable income from prior carryback years and the availability of tax planning 
strategies. A valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax balance is required to be established unless management determines 
it is more likely than not that the tax benefit associated with the deferred tax asset will be realized. Realization is dependent 
upon the existence of sufficient future taxable income of an appropriate character within the carryforward periods. The 
Company's forecasted future taxable income requires significant management judgment.

We identified the assessment of the realizability of deferred tax assets as a critical audit matter. The development of 
management’s forecasted future taxable income involves significant judgment and assumptions, including the complexities 
related to the assessment of weighting relevant positive and negative evidence. Auditing these elements involved especially 
challenging auditor judgment due to the nature and extent of audit effort required to address these matters, including the need 
for specialized knowledge and skill in assessing these elements.
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The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

• Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions and evidence to support the assumptions used by the Company 
to develop projections of forecasted future taxable income considering:
(i) the current and past performance of the Company;
(ii) the consistency with external market and industry data, and
(iii) the consistency of the assumptions with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.

• Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skill to assist in evaluating the Company’s application of the 
relevant tax regulations to the assumptions used in the determination of forecasted future taxable income.

       
/s/ BDO USA, LLP

We served as the Company's auditor from 2015 until 2021.
 
Atlanta, Georgia
March 3, 2021
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BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

BlueLinx is a leading wholesale distributor of residential and commercial building products in the United States. We are a 
“two-step” distributor. Two-step distributors purchase products from manufacturers and distribute those products to dealers and 
other suppliers in local markets, who then sell those products to end users. We carry a broad portfolio of both branded and 
private-label stock keeping units (“SKUs”) across two principal product categories: specialty products and structural products. 
Specialty products include items such as engineered wood, industrial products, cedar, moulding, siding, metal products, and 
insulation. Structural products include items such as lumber, plywood, oriented strand board, rebar, and remesh. We also 
provide a wide range of value-added services and solutions aimed at relieving distribution and logistics challenges for our 
customers and suppliers, while enhancing their marketing and inventory management capabilities. Our Consolidated Financial 
Statements include the accounts of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. These financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

We operate on a 5-4-4 fiscal calendar. Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to December 31 of that fiscal year and may 
comprise 53 weeks in certain years. Our 2021 fiscal year contained 52 weeks and ended on January 1, 2022. Fiscal 2020 
contained 53 weeks and ended on January 2, 2021. 

Reclassification of Prior Period Presentation

We have reclassified certain payables within the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the year ended January 2, 2021, from other 
current liabilities to taxes payable. These payables relate to amounts due to various tax authorities.

For the year ended January 2, 2021, we have reclassified certain items within the presentation of our statement of cash flows to 
align with our statement of cash flows presentation for the year ended January 1, 2022. Our reclassifications are limited to the 
operating activities section and include presenting only the impact of deferred income taxes, instead of our full provision for 
income taxes, as a reconciling item for net income to cash provided by operating activities. We have also reclassified certain 
items previously presented individually, such as pension expense and pension contributions, to be included in the change of 
other assets and liabilities. In addition, we are presenting the change in taxes payable, previously included in other assets and 
liabilities, as a distinct line item in our reconciliation of net income to cash provided by operating activities. These 
reclassifications, we believe, provide an enhanced level of transparency with regards to the presentation of our statement of 
cash flows.

Use of Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, which requires us to make estimates based on 
assumptions about current, and for some estimates, future economic and market conditions, including the effects of the novel 
coronavirus (“COVID-19”), which affect reported amounts and related disclosures in our financial statements. Although our 
current estimates contemplate current and expected future conditions, as applicable, it is reasonably possible that actual 
conditions could differ from our expectations, which could materially affect our results of operations and financial position.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the Company’s customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration we expected to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The timing of revenue 
recognition largely is dependent on shipping terms. Revenue is recorded at the time of shipment for terms designated free on 
board (“FOB”) shipping point. For sales transactions designated FOB destination, revenue is recorded when the product is 
delivered to the customer’s delivery site.

All revenues recognized are net of trade allowances, cash discounts, and sales returns. Cash discounts and sales returns are 
estimated using historical experience. Trade allowances are based on the estimated obligations and historical experience. 
Adjustments to earnings resulting from revisions to estimates on discounts and returns have been immaterial for each of the 
reported periods.
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In addition, we provide inventory to certain customers through pre-arranged agreements on a consignment basis. Customer 
consigned inventory is maintained and stored by certain customers; however, ownership and risk of loss remains with us. 

Shipping and Handling

Outbound shipping and handling costs included in “Selling, general, and administrative” expenses were $149.2 million and 
$151.2 million for fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively. Shipping and handling costs include amounts related to the 
administration of our logistical infrastructure, handling of material in our warehouses, and amounts pertaining to the delivery of 
products to our customers, such as fuel and maintenance costs for our mobile fleet, wages for our drivers, and third party freight 
charges.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash 
equivalents.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at net realizable value, do not bear interest, and consist of amounts owed for orders shipped to 
customers. Management establishes an overall credit policy for sales to customers. The allowance for doubtful accounts is 
determined based on a number of factors including specific customer account reviews, historical loss experience, current 
economic trends, and the creditworthiness of significant customers based on ongoing credit evaluations.

Inventory Valuation

The cost of all inventories is determined by the moving average cost method. We have included all material charges directly or 
indirectly incurred in bringing inventory to its existing condition and location. We evaluate our inventory value at the end of 
each quarter to ensure that inventory, when viewed by category, is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value, which 
also considers items that may be damaged, excess, and obsolete inventory.

Consideration Received from Vendors and Paid to Customers

Each year, we enter into agreements with many of our vendors providing for inventory purchase rebates, generally based on 
achievement of specified volume purchasing levels. We also receive rebates related to price protection and various marketing 
allowances that are common industry practice. We accrue for the receipt of vendor rebates based on purchases, and also reduce 
inventory to reflect the net acquisition cost (purchase price less expected purchase rebates). 

In addition, we enter into agreements with many of our customers to offer customer rebates, generally based on achievement of 
specified sales levels and various marketing allowances that are common industry practice. We accrue for the payment of 
customer rebates based on sales to the customer, and also reduce sales to reflect the net sales (sales price less expected customer 
rebates). Adjustments to earnings resulting from revisions to rebate estimates have been immaterial.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Lease obligations for which we assume or retain substantially all the property 
rights and risks of ownership are capitalized. Amortization of assets recorded under finance leases is included in “Depreciation 
and amortization” expense. Replacements of major units of property are capitalized and the replaced properties are retired. 
Replacements of minor components of property and repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets included in the 
table below. Upon retirement or disposition of assets, cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the related accounts 
and any gain or loss is included in income.

Property and equipment consisted of the following asset classes with the following general range of estimated useful lives:
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of future lease payments. When our contracts contain lease and non-lease components, we account for both components as a 
single lease component. See Note 11, Lease Commitments, for further discussion.

Income Taxes

We account for deferred income taxes using the liability method. Accordingly, we recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities 
based on the tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as 
measured by current enacted tax rates. All deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent in our consolidated 
balance sheet. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when necessary. For additional information about 
our income taxes, see Note 5, Income Taxes.

Pension

We sponsor a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan administered solely by us (the “pension plan”). Most of the 
participants in the plan are inactive, with all remaining active participants no longer accruing benefits, and the plan is closed to 
new entrants. Our funding policy for the pension plan is based on actuarial calculations and the applicable requirements of 
federal law. Benefits under the pension plan primarily are related to years of service. 

We are involved in various multiemployer pension plans (“MEPPs”) that provide retirement benefits to certain union 
employees in accordance with certain collective bargaining agreements (“CBAs”). As one of many participating employers in 
these MEPPs, we are generally responsible with the other participating employers for any plan underfunding. Our contributions 
to a particular MEPP are established by the applicable CBAs; however, our required contributions may increase based on the 
funded status of an MEPP and legal requirements such as those of the Pension Act, which requires substantially underfunded 
MEPPs to implement a funding improvement plan (“FIP”) or a rehabilitation plan (“RP”) to improve their funded status. 

Recent Accounting Standards - Adopted

Income Taxes. In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards 
Update (“ASU”) No. 2019-12, “Income taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.” This ASU 
simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. The amendments 
in this standard are effective for interim periods and fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. We adopted this standard 
effective for fiscal year 2021. The adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated 
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-14, “Compensation-Retirement-Benefits-
Defined Benefit Plans-General (Subtopic 715-20).” The amendments in this ASU modify the disclosure requirements for 
employers that sponsor defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans by removing six previously required disclosures 
and adding two. The ASU eliminates the requirement to disclose the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income 
expected to be recognized as part of net periodic benefit cost over the next year. The ASU also removes the disclosure 
requirements for the effects of a one-percentage-point change on the assumed health care costs and the effect of this change in 
rates on service cost, interest cost and the benefit obligation for postretirement health care benefits. We adopted this standard 
effective for fiscal year 2020. The adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated 
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Fair Value Measurement. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, “Fair Value (“FV”) Measurement (Topic 820).” 
In addition to making certain modifications, the standard removes the requirements to disclose: (i) the amount of and reasons 
for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the FV hierarchy; (ii) the policy for timing transfers between levels; and (iii) the 
valuation process for Level 3 FV measurements. The standard will require public entities to disclose: (a) the changes in 
unrealized gains and losses for the period included in other comprehensive income for recurring Level 3 FV measurements held 
at the end of the reporting period; and (b) the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop 
Level 3 fair value measurements. For certain unobservable inputs, an entity may disclose other quantitative information in lieu 
of the weighted average if the entity determines that other quantitative information would be a more reasonable and rational 
method to reflect the distribution of unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 FV measurements. The additional disclosure 
requirements should be applied prospectively for the most recent interim or annual period presented in the fiscal year of 
adoption. All other amendments should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. We adopted this standard effective 
December 29, 2019, the first day of our 2020 fiscal year. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Recent Accounting Standards - Not Yet Adopted

Credit Impairment Losses. In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326).” 
This ASU sets forth a current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model which requires the measurement of all expected credit 
losses for financial instruments or other assets (e.g., trade receivables), held at the reporting date based on historical experience, 
current conditions, and reasonable supportable forecasts. This replaces the existing incurred loss model, is applicable to the 
measurement of credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost, and applies to some off-balance sheet credit 
exposures. The standard also requires enhanced disclosures to help financial statement users better understand significant 
estimates and judgments used in estimating credit losses, as well as the credit quality and underwriting standards of an entity's 
portfolio. ASU 2019-10 extended the effective date to interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, for 
certain public business entities, including smaller reporting companies. We have completed our assessment of the standard and 
determined from our assessment that the adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial 
position, results of operations, or cash flows.

2.	Inventories	

Our inventories consist almost entirely of finished goods inventory, with an immaterial amount of work-in-process inventory. 
The cost of all inventories is determined by the moving average cost method. We have included all material charges directly 
incurred in bringing inventory to its existing condition and location. We evaluate our inventory value at the end of each quarter 
to ensure that inventory, when viewed by category, is carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value, which also considers 
items that may be considered damaged, excess, and obsolete inventory. At the end of fiscal 2021, we assessed the carrying 
value of our inventory and determined it was presented at the lower of cost or net realizable value and that an additional reserve 
was not necessary. 

3. Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criteria are met: (1) Contract with the customer has been identified; (2) Performance 
obligations in the contract have been identified; (3) Transaction price has been determined; (4) The transaction price has been 
allocated to the performance obligations; and (5) When (or as) performance obligations are satisfied.

Contracts with our customers are generally in the form of standard terms and conditions of sale. From time to time, we may 
enter into specific contracts with some of our larger customers, which may affect delivery terms. Performance obligations in our 
contracts generally consist solely of delivery of goods. For all sales channel types, consisting of warehouse, direct, and reload 
sales, we typically satisfy our performance obligations upon shipment. Our customer payment terms are typical for our industry, 
and may vary by the type and location of our customer and the products or services offered. The term between invoicing and 
when payment is due is not deemed to be significant by us. For certain sales channels and/or products, our standard terms of 
payment may be as early as ten days.

In addition, we provide inventory to certain customers through pre-arranged agreements on a consignment basis. Customer 
consigned inventory is maintained and stored by certain customers; however, ownership and risk of loss remains with us.

All revenues recognized are net of trade allowances (i.e., rebates), cash discounts and sales returns. Cash discounts and sales 
returns are estimated using historical experience. Trade allowances are based on the estimated obligations and historical 
experience. Adjustments to earnings resulting from revisions to estimates on discounts and returns have been insignificant for 
each of the reported periods. Certain customers may receive cash-based incentives or credits, which are accounted for as 
variable consideration. We estimate these amounts based on the expected amount to be provided to customers and reduce 
revenues recognized. We believe that there will not be significant changes to our estimates of variable consideration.

The following table presents our revenues disaggregated by revenue source. Sales and usage-based taxes are excluded from 
revenues.
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Impacts of the Tax Act and CARES 

In December of 2017, the U.S. enacted comprehensive tax legislation under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, (“The Tax Act”), which 
made broad and complex changes to the tax code. During fiscal 2019, we recorded a valuation allowance of $4.8 million 
primarily related to interest disallowed for deduction related to changes included in the Tax Act. In March of 2020, the U.S. 
enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES” Act). CARES included a provision which raised the 
level of deductibility for previously disallowed interest which had been enacted under the Tax Act. During fiscal 2020, because 
of the provision included in CARES, we benefited from the release of the $4.8 million in valuation allowance which we had 
recorded during fiscal 2019 under the provisions of the Tax Act. We had no impact to our income tax provision in fiscal 2021 
from either The Tax Act nor CARES. 

Net Operating Losses

At the end of fiscal 2020, our gross state net operating loss carryovers are $162.6 million and our tax-effected state net 
operating loss carryovers are $8.0 million, of which $7.3 million was subject to a valuation allowance arising from expiration 
date when considered conjunction with state limitations related to Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 382. At the end of 
fiscal 2021, our gross state net operating loss carryovers are $98.6 million and our tax-effected state net operating loss 
carryovers are $5.4 million, of which $4.3 million is subject to a valuation allowance arising from expiration dates when 
considered in conjunction with state limitation related to IRC Section 382. Our state net operating loss carryovers will expire in 
1 to 20 years. For fiscal 2021, we reversed $3.0 million in valuation allowance against our state net operating losses. Based on 
our taxable income for 2021 in the states where we have net operating loss carryforwards, we believe we will be able to utilize 
this amount of state net operating losses that were previously reserved by this valuation allowance. We file U.S. federal and 
state income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations and may be subject to audit based on periods that 
are not limited by applicable statutes. Our U.S. federal income tax returns for tax years 2018, 2019 and 2020 remain subject to 
audit under the federal statute of limitations. Our auditable state income tax returns vary depending on the jurisdiction and its 
applicable statute of limitations. 

Although we believe our estimates are reasonable in the carrying value of our valuation allowances against our deferred tax 
items, the ultimate determination of the appropriate amounts of valuation allowance involves significant judgement.

Assessing our Deferred Tax Assets

Quarterly, we assess the carrying value of our deferred tax assets for impairment by evaluating the weight of available evidence 
at the end of each fiscal quarter. In our evaluation of the weight of available evidence at the end of fiscal 2021, we considered 
the recent reported income in the current year, as well as the reported income for 2020 and reported loss for 2019, which 
resulted in a three-year cumulative income situation as positive evidence which carried substantial weight. While this was 
substantial, it was not the only evidence we evaluated. We also considered evidence related to the four sources of taxable 
income, to determine whether such positive evidence outweighed the negative evidence. The evidence considered included:

• future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences;
• future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards;
• taxable income in prior carryback years, if carryback is permitted under the tax law; and
• tax planning strategies.

In addition to the positive evidence discussed above, we considered as positive evidence forecasted future taxable income, the 
future timing of the reversal of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, and the evidence from business and tax planning 
strategies. At the end of fiscal 2021 and 2020, in our evaluation of the weight of available evidence, we concluded that our 
deferred tax assets were not impaired other than $4.3 million of the state net operating losses. 
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The revolving credit agreement provides for interest on borrowings under the revolving credit facility at a rate per annum equal 
to (i) LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.75 percent, with the amount of such margin determined based upon 
the average of the Borrowers’ excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as calculated by the Agent, for 
loans based on LIBOR, or (ii) the base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.25 percent to 0.75 percent, with the amount of such 
margin determined based upon the average of the Borrowers’ excess availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as 
calculated by the Agent, for loans based on the base rate.

All other material terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended, remained unchanged. The revolving credit agreement also 
contains representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants customary for financings of this type as well as 
customary events of default. In conjunction with our offering of senior secured notes, we amended the revolving credit facility 
to reduce the credit limit from $600 million to $350 million. In conjunction with the reduction of the credit limit of our 
revolving credit facility, we expensed approximately $1.6 million of debt issuance costs during the fourth quarter of 2021. 
These costs are included within interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and reported separately as 
an adjustment to net income in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

As of January 1, 2022, we had zero outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility. As of January 2, 2021, we had 
outstanding borrowings of $288.2 million and excess availability of $184.3 million under our revolving credit facility. For the 
years ended January 2, 2021 and January 1, 2022, our effective interest rate on our revolving credit facility was 3.3 percent and 
2.5 percent, respectively. 

We were in compliance with all covenants under the revolving credit agreement as of January 1, 2022.

Senior Secured Notes

In October 2021, we entered into an indenture (the “Indenture”) with the guarantors party thereto and Truist Bank, as trustee 
and collateral agent, in connection with a private offering of $300 million of our six percent senior secured notes due 2029 (the 
“2029 Notes”). The 2029 Notes were issued to investors at 98.625 percent of their principal amount and will mature on 
November 15, 2029. The majority of net proceeds from the offering of the 2029 Notes were used to repay borrowings under our 
revolving credit facility. In conjunction with this offering, we also amended the revolving credit facility to reduce the credit 
limit from $600 million to $350 million. In conjunction with the reduction of the credit limit of our revolving credit facility, we 
expensed approximately $1.6 million of debt issuance costs during the fourth quarter of 2021. These costs are included within 
interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in 
our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

The Company’s obligations under the 2029 Notes are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic subsidiaries that are co-borrowers 
under or guarantee the Company’s revolving credit facility. The 2029 Notes and the related guarantees are secured by a first-
priority security interest in substantially all of the Company’s and each guarantor’s existing and future assets (other than 
receivables, inventory, deposit accounts, securities accounts, business interruption insurance and other related assets (the “ABL 
Collateral”)), subject to certain exceptions and customary permitted liens. The 2029 Notes and the related guarantees are also 
secured on a second-priority basis by a lien on the ABL Collateral. Interest on the 2029 Notes will be payable on May 15 and 
November 15 of each year, beginning on May 15, 2022.

The 2029 Notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time on or after November 15, 2024 at certain redemption 
prices. The redemption price for the 2029 Notes if redeemed during the twelve months beginning (i) November 15, 2024 is 
103.000%, (ii) November 15, 2025 is 101.500%, and (iii) November 15, 2026 and thereafter is 100.000%. The Company may 
also redeem some or all of the 2029 Notes before November 15, 2024 at a redemption price of 100.0% of the principal amount, 
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date, plus a “make-whole” premium. In addition, 
the Company may redeem up to 40.0% of the outstanding 2029 Notes before November 15, 2024 with the net cash proceeds 
from certain equity offerings at a price equal to 106.000% of the principal amount of the notes, plus accrued but unpaid interest, 
if any, to, but not including, the redemption date. Furthermore, the Company may redeem the 2029 Notes at any time and from 
time to time prior to November 15, 2024 during each of the three consecutive twelve month periods commencing on October 
25, 2021 in an aggregate principal amount equal to up to 10.0% of the original aggregate principal amount of the 2029 Notes at 
a redemption price of 103.0%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date. In addition, 
the Company may be required to make an offer to purchase the 2029 Notes upon the sale of certain assets or upon a change of 
control.
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Term Loan Facility

In April 2018, in connection with the acquisition of Cedar Creek, we entered into a Credit and Guaranty Agreement by and 
among the Company, as borrower, certain of our subsidiaries, as guarantors, HPS Investment Partners, LLC, as administrative 
agent and collateral agent (“HPS”) and certain other financial institutions as parties thereto. In October 2019, the Credit and 
Guaranty Agreement was amended to, among other things, permit real estate sale leaseback transactions. The Credit and 
Guaranty Agreement was amended in October 2019, January 2020, and February 2020 (as amended, the “Term Loan 
Agreement”). The Term Loan Agreement provided for a senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of 
$180 million (the “Term Loan Facility”). The proceeds from the term loan facility were used to fund a portion of the cash 
consideration payable in connection with the acquisition of Cedar Creek and to fund transaction costs in connection with the 
acquisition and the term loan facility. The obligations under the Term Loan Agreement were secured by a security interest in 
substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’ assets, including inventories, accounts receivable, real property, and proceeds from 
those items.

As of January 2, 2021, we had outstanding borrowings of $43.2 million under our term loan facility. On April 2, 2021, we 
repaid the remaining outstanding principal balance under the term loan facility and the facility was terminated. As a result, as of 
January 1, 2022, we had no outstanding borrowings under the term loan facility. In connection with our repayment of the term 
loan facility, we expensed $5.8 million of debt issuance costs during the first quarter of fiscal 2021 that we had been amortizing 
in connection the term loan facility. These costs are included within interest expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations and reported separately as an adjustment to net income in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. While the 
facility was paid in full as of April 2, 2021, our average interest rate under the facility, exclusive of fees and prepayment 
premiums, was 8.2 percent and 8.0 percent for the years ended January 2, 2021 and January 1, 2022, respectively.

 Finance Lease Obligations

Our finance lease liabilities consist of leases related to equipment and vehicles, and to real estate, with the majority of those 
finance lease commitments relating to the real estate financing transactions that we completed in recent years. During fiscal 
2020, we completed real estate financing transactions on two warehouse facilities; and during fiscal 2021, we completed real 
estate financing transactions on fourteen warehouse facilities. We recognized financing lease assets and obligations as a result 
of each of these real estate transactions. We also entered into new finance lease agreements for new tractors for our fleet 
totaling $3.8 million and $10.5 million during fiscal 2020 and 2021, respectively. Our total finance lease commitments, 
including the properties associated with these transactions, totaled $274.7 million and $273.1 million as of January 1, 2022 and 
January 2, 2021, respectively. Of the $274.7 million of finance lease commitments as of January 1, 2022, $244.0 million related 
to real estate and $30.7 million related to equipment. Of the $273.1 million of finance lease commitments as of January 2, 2021, 
$243.7 million related to real estate and $29.4 million related to equipment.

For more information on our finance lease obligations, refer to Note 11, Lease Commitments.

7. Fair Value Measurements

We determine a fair value measurement based on the assumptions a market participant would use in pricing an asset or liability, 
in accordance with ASC 820 - Fair Value Measurement. The fair value measurement guidance established a three level 
hierarchy making a distinction between market participant assumptions based on (i) unadjusted quoted prices for identical 
assets or liabilities in an active market (Level 1), (ii) quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs that are observable 
either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability (Level 2), and (iii) prices or valuation 
techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement (Level 3). The 
fair value measurement guidance also establishes, as a practical expedient, that certain investments are not to be classified in the 
fair value hierarchy when they are measured at fair value using net asset value ("NAV").

Fair value measurements for defined benefit pension plan

The fair value hierarchy discussed above not only is applicable to assets and liabilities that are included in our consolidated 
balance sheets, but also is applied to certain other assets that indirectly impact our consolidated financial statements. For 
example, we sponsor and contribute to a single-employer defined benefit pension plan (see Note 8, Employee Benefits). Assets 
contributed by us become the property of the pension plan. Even though the Company no longer has control over these assets, 
we are indirectly impacted by subsequent fair value adjustments to these assets. The actual return on these assets impacts our 
future net periodic benefit cost, as well as amounts recognized in our consolidated balance sheets. The Company uses the fair 
value hierarchy to measure the fair value of assets held by our pension plan where applicable. Certain investments are measured 
using the net asset value ("NAV") per share as a practical expedient and have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.
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payments was $7.3 million as of January 1, 2022. We may, in the future, record an additional liability if required by an event of 
our complete withdrawal from the plan or a mass withdrawal. Our most recent contingent withdrawal liability was estimated at 
approximately $59.2 million, for a complete withdrawal occurring in 2022. In the case of a complete withdrawal or a mass 
withdrawal, the Central States Plan could demand yearly payments of approximately $1.1 million, which do not include 
payments for the partial withdrawal of approximately $0.6 million annually. In a complete withdrawal, the payments would not 
amortize the liability fully; however, payments for a complete withdrawal are limited to a 20-year period. In the case of a mass 
withdrawal, the liability would not amortize fully under current government regulations, and payments would continue 
indefinitely.

Defined Contribution Plans

Our employees also participate in two defined contribution plans: the BlueLinx Corporation Hourly Savings Plan covering 
hourly employees, and the BlueLinx Corporation Salaried Savings Plan covering salaried employees. Discretionary 
contributions to the plans are based on employee contributions and compensation, and, in certain cases, participants in the 
hourly savings plan also receive employer contributions based on union negotiated match amounts. Employer contributions to 
the hourly savings plan for fiscal years 2020 and 2021 were approximately $0.7 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

Employer contributions to the salaried savings plan for fiscal 2020 of approximately $1.8 million were deferred and paid in the 
first quarter of 2021. Employer contributions to the salaried savings plan for fiscal 2021 of approximately $2.0 million were 
deferred and will be paid in the first quarter of 2022. 

9. Share-Based Compensation

We have four stock-based compensation plans covering officers, directors, certain employees, and consultants: the 2004 Equity 
Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), the 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), the 2016 Amended and 
Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”) and the 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”). The plans are 
designed to motivate and retain individuals who are responsible for the attainment of our primary long-term performance goals. 
The plans provide a means whereby the participants develop a further sense of proprietorship and personal involvement in our 
development and financial success, thereby advancing the interests of the Company and its stockholders. Although we do not 
have a formal policy on the matter, we issue new shares of our common stock to participants upon the exercise of options or 
upon the vesting of restricted stock, restricted stock units, or performance shares, out of the total amount of common shares 
applicable for issuance or vesting under the aforementioned plans. Shares are available for new issuance only under the 2021 
Plan. The 2004, 2006 and 2016 Plans have no shares remaining for issuance. Remaining 2006 and 2016 Plan shares are 
outstanding only for the vesting of outstanding equity awards. 

On May 20, 2021 at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, our stockholders approved the BlueLinx Holding, Inc. 2021 Long-
Term Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which the Board of Directors had previously approved. The 2021 Plan permits the grant 
of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock, restricted stock 
units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other share-based awards to participants of the 2021 Plan 
selected by our Board of Directors or a committee of the Board that administers the 2021 Plan. We reserved 750,000 shares of 
our common stock for issuance under the 2021 Plan. The terms and conditions of awards under the 2021 Plan are determined by 
the Compensation Committee. Some of the awards issued under both the 2006 and 2016 Plans are subject to accelerated vesting 
in the event of a change in control as such an event is defined in the respective Plan documents.

For all awards designated as equity awards, we recognize compensation expense equal to the grant-date fair value for all share-
based payment awards that are expected to vest, as described further below, in “Compensation Expense.” This expense is 
recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award, unless the awards are subject to market or 
performance conditions, in which case we recognize compensation expense over the requisite service period of each separate 
vesting tranche, to the extent the occurrence of such conditions are probable. 

All compensation expense related to our share-based payment awards is recorded in “Selling, general, and administrative” 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.

Restricted Stock Units

During fiscal 2021 and in prior years, the Board of Directors were granted restricted stock units with a one-year vesting period, 
although a pro-rated portion could vest prior to the one-year period, with the remainder forfeited, if a director chose not to stand 
for re-election before the one-year vesting period elapsed. All vested director grants prior to May 20, 2021 settle at the earlier of 
ten years from the vesting date or retirement from the Board of Directors, whichever comes first. These awards are time-based 
and are not based upon attainment of performance goals. Grants to directors made after May 20, 2021 from the 2021 Plan share 
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation, as of the end of 
the period covered by this report, of our disclosure controls and procedures, which have been designed to permit us to record, 
process, summarize, and report, within time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms, information required to be 
disclosed. Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the controls and 
procedures were effective as of January 1, 2022, to ensure that material information was accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. 

Changes in Internal Control 

During the fiscal year ended January 1, 2022, we did not make any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is 
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial 
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies may deteriorate. 

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2022, 
using the criteria issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in the 2013 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on that evaluation, management believes that our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective as of January 1, 2022. 

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2022, has been audited by Ernst & Young 
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, which also audited our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 
ended January 1, 2022. 

Ernst & Young LLP’s report on our internal control over financial reporting is set forth below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of BlueLinx Holdings Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

We have audited BlueLinx Holdings Inc. internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2022, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, BlueLinx Holdings Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2022, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheet of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as of January 1, 2022, the related consolidated statements 
of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related 
notes and our report dated February 22, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

Atlanta, Georgia
February 22, 2022
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART IV
 
ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a)  Financial Statements, Schedules, and Exhibits 

1. Financial Statements. The Financial Statements of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries and the Report of Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm are presented under Item 8 of this Form 10-K. 

2. Financial Statement Schedules. Not applicable.

3. Exhibits.

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 9, 2018, by and among BlueLinx Corporation, Panther 
Merger Sub, Inc., Cedar Creek Holdings, Inc. and Charlesbank Equity Fund VII, Limited Partnership 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 12, 2018)

3.1  Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BlueLinx, as amended (incorporated by 
reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 20, 2015)

3.2  Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on June 13, 2016)

3.3 Second Amended and Restated ByLaws of BlueLinx (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 4, 2018)

4.1 Description of Registrant’s Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 10-
K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3, 2021)*

4.2 Indenture, dated as of October 25, 2021, by and among BlueLinx Holdings Inc., the guarantors party thereto 
and Truist Bank, as trustee and collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s 
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 25, 2021)

10.1  Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2004, by and among Georgia-Pacific Corporation, 
Georgia-Pacific Building Materials Sales, Ltd. and BlueLinx Corporation (A) 

10.2  First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2004, by and among Georgia-Pacific 
Corporation, Georgia-Pacific Building Materials Sales, Ltd. and BlueLinx Corporation (A) 

10.3  Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 13, 2011) ± 

10.4  BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2004 Long Term Equity Incentive Plan (A) ±

10.5  Amended and Restated BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (as amended 
through May 17, 2012 and restated solely for purposes of filing pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K) 
(incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16, 2012) ±

10.6 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form S-8 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on June 3, 2016) ± 

10.7 First Amendment to BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 18, 2018) ±

10.8 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan Form of Stock Appreciation 
Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form S-8 Registration 
Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 3, 2016) ±

10.9 Form of Amendment to BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan 
Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2018) ±

10.10 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock 
Unit Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the 
Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 2, 2017) ± 

Exhibit Number Item
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10.11 Form of 2018 Time Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the BlueLinx Holdings, Inc. 2016 
Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 
to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2018) ±

10.12 Form of 2018 Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the BlueLinx Holdings, 
Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 
9, 2018) ±

10.13 Form of Amendment to 2018 Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under BlueLinx 
Holdings, Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on March 3, 2021)

10.14 Form of 2019 and 2020 Time Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the BlueLinx Holdings, 
Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
November 6, 2019) ±

10.15 Form of 2019 Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the BlueLinx Holdings, 
Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
November 6, 2019) ± 

10.16  Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2006, by BlueLinx Holdings Inc. in favor of 
German American Capital Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-
K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 15, 2006) 

10.17  Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Mitchell Lewis, dated January 15, 2014 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on January 17, 2014) ± 

10.18 First Amendment, effective June 8, 2018, to Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and 
Mitchell Lewis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2018) ±

10.19  Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Susan C. O’Farrell, dated May 5, 2014 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 8, 2014) ± 

10.20 First Amendment, effective June 1, 2018, to Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and 
Susan C. O’Farrell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2018) ±

10.21 Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Shyam K. Reddy, dated May 3, 2017 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on August 10, 2017) ±

10.22 First Amendment, effective June 8, 2018, to Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and 
Shyam K. Reddy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2018) ±

10.23 Employment Agreement, dated as of April 13, 2018, between BlueLinx Corporation and Alex Averitt 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8‑K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on April 19, 2018) ±

10.24 First Amendment, effective June 1, 2018, to Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and 
Alex Averitt (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2018) ±

10.25 Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Kelly C. Janzen, dated March 2, 2020 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 6, 2020) ±

10.26 Separation Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Susan C. O’Farrell, dated March 9, 2020 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 6, 2020) ±

10.27 Letter Agreement, dated March 22, 2020, between BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and Mitchell B. Lewis 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 6, 2020) ± 

Exhibit Number Item
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10.28 Letter Agreement, dated March 30, 2020, between BlueLinx Corporation and Alexander Averitt 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on August 3, 2020) ± 

10.29 BlueLinx Holdings Inc, Amended and Restated Short-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Appendix A to the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2017) ±

10.30 BlueLinx Corporation Integration Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Form 8‑K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 19, 2018) ±

10.31 BlueLinx Corporation Integration Incentive Plan Form of Participation Agreement (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8‑K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on April 19, 2018) ±

10.32 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. Executive Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 27, 2015) ±

10.33 Form of Executive Restrictive Covenant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 27, 2015) ±

10.34 Revised Form of Executive Restrictive Covenant Agreement ±
10.35 Form of Purchase and Sale Agreement with USIPA-Brennan Ventures II, LLC, dated as of November 6, 

2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 3, 2018)

10.36 Form of Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement with USIPA-Brennan Ventures II, LLC, dated as of 
December 7, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 3, 2018)

10.37 Form of Purchase and Sale Agreement for Sale-Leaseback Transactions with Big Acquisitions LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on August 7, 2019)

10.38 Third Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2019, by and between ABP FL 
(Yulee) LLC and Big Acquisitions LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 
10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2019)

10.39 Third Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2019, by and between ABP IL 
(University Park) and Big Acquisitions LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s 
Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2019)

10.40 Form of Purchase and Sale Agreement with Big Acquisitions LLC, dated as of October 16, 2019 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 6, 2020)

10.41 Form of First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement with Big Acquisitions LLC, dated as of 
November 20, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 6, 2020)

10.42 Form of Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement with Big Acquisitions LLC, dated as of 
December 13, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 6, 2020)

10.43 Form of Purchase and Sale Agreement with Big Acquisitions LLC, dated as of June 1, 2020 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on October 28, 2020)

10.44 First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement with Big Acquisitions LLC, dated as of July 8, 2020 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on October 28, 2020)

10.45 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated April 13, 2018, by and among BlueLinx Holdings Inc., 
certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as borrowers or guarantors thereunder, Wells Fargo Bank, 
National Association, as administrative agent, and certain other financial institutions party thereto 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on April 16, 2018)

10.46 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated January 31, 2020, by and among 
BlueLinx Holdings Inc., certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as borrowers or guarantors 
thereunder, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and certain other financial 
institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 6, 2020)
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10.47 Amended and Restated Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated April 13, 2018, by and among BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc., certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc., and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on April 16, 2018)

10.48 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated April 13, 2018, by and among BlueLinx Holdings Inc., certain 
subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as guarantors thereunder, HPS Investment Partners, LLC, as 
administrative agent and collateral agent, and certain other financial institutions party thereto (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on April 16, 2018)

10.49 Pledge and Security Agreement, dated April 13, 2018, by and among BlueLinx Holdings Inc., certain 
subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc., and HPS Investment Partners, LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16, 
2018)

10.50 First Amendment, dated as of June 12, 2018, to that certain Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of 
April 13, 2018, by and among BlueLinx Holdings Inc., certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as 
guarantors thereunder, HPS Investment Partners, LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and 
certain other financial institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the 
Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 13, 2019)

10.51 Second Amendment to Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated February 28, 2019, by and among BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc., as borrower, certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc., as guarantors, HPS Investment 
Partners, LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the other financial institutions party thereto, 
as lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on March 4, 2019)

10.52 Third Amendment to Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated October 24, 2019, by and among BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc., as borrower, certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc., as guarantors, the lenders party 
thereto, and HPS Investment Partners, LLC, in its capacity as administrative agent (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on November 6, 2019)

10.53 Fourth Amendment to Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated December 31, 2019, by and among BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc., as borrower, certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc., as guarantors, the lenders party 
thereto, and HPS Investment Partners, LLC, in its capacity as administrative agent (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on May 6, 2020)

10.54 Fifth Amendment to Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated February 28, 2020, by and among BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc., as borrower, certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc., as guarantors, the lenders party 
thereto, and HPS Investment Partners, LLC, in its capacity as administrative agent (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on May 6, 2020)

10.55 Sixth Amendment to Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated April 1, 2020, by and among BlueLinx 
Holdings Inc., as borrower, certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc., as guarantors, the lenders party 
thereto, and HPS Investment Partners, LLC, in its capacity as administrative agent (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on April 7, 2020) 

10.56 Retirement and Transition Services Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Mitchell B. Lewis, dated 
April 15, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2021) ±

10.57 Employment Agreement by and among BlueLinx Corporation, BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and Dwight Gibson, 
dated April 15, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2021) ±

10.58 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the 
Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 20, 
2021) ±

10.59 Separation Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Alexander Averitt, dated June 28, 2021 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on July 1, 2021) ±

10.60 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated August 2, 2021, by and among 
BlueLinx Holdings Inc., certain subsidiaries of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as borrowers or guarantors 
thereunder, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and certain other financial 
institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2021)
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10.61 First Amendment to Employment Agreement, by and between BlueLinx Corporation and Dwight Gibson, 
dated June 24, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2021) ±

10.62 Form of 2021 Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2021 
Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the 
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2021) ±

10.63 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2021 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-
Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2021) ±

10.64 Award Agreement between BlueLinx Holdings Inc., BlueLinx Corporation and Dwight Gibson, dated June 
24, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2021) ±

16.1 Letter from BDO USA, LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission, dated June 14, 2021 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on June 17, 2021)

21.1  List of subsidiaries of the Company*
23.1 Consent of BDO USA, LLP*
23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP*
31.1  Certification of Dwight Gibson, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002*
31.2  Certification of Kelly C. Janzen, Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, pursuant to Section 302 

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

32.1  Certification of Dwight Gibson, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002**

32.2  Certification of Kelly C. Janzen, Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002**

101.Def  Definition Linkbase Document*
101.Pre Presentation Linkbase Document*
101.Lab Labels Linkbase Document*
101.Cal Calculation Linkbase Document*
101.Sch Schema Document*
101.Ins Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL 

tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
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† Portions of this document were omitted and filed separately with the SEC pursuant to a request for 

confidential treatment in accordance with Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act.

* Filed herewith.
  
** Exhibit is being furnished and shall not deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subjected to liability under that Section. this exhibit 
shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or other document pursuant to the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference.

  
± Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
  
(A) Previously filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 

S-1 (Reg. No. 333-118750) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 1, 2004.
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ITEM 16.  FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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Stockholder Information 

BlueLinx Holdings Inc. Headquarters:  
1950 Spectrum Circle, Suite 300  
Marietta, Georgia 30339  
770-953-7000 
 
Annual Meeting:  
The Company’s 2022 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders will be held at 11:00 a.m., 
EDT, on Thursday, May 19, at the Hyatt 
Regency Hotel, 2999 Windy Hill Road, 
Marietta, GA 30067  
 
Common Stock:  
The common stock of BlueLinx Holdings 
Inc. is traded on the New York Stock 
Exchange. The trading symbol is “BXC.”  
 
Inquiries:  
Inquiries from stockholders, securities 
analysts, interested investors, and the 
news media regarding Company 
information, or requests for exhibits to our 
Form 10-K, should be directed to Investor 
Relations, BlueLinx Holdings Inc., 
Investor@BlueLinxCo.com or by phone 
(866) 671-5138. Additional information 
can be found on the Company’s website: 
www.BlueLinxCo.com.  
 
Registrar and Transfer Agent:  
Stockholder inquiries regarding change of 
address, transfer of stock certificates, and 
lost certificates should be directed to:  
Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions  
P.O. Box 1342  
Brentwood, NY 11717  
Overnight deliveries:  
ATTN: IWS  
1155 Long Island Avenue  
Edgewood, NY 11717  
Call center 1-855-449-0975  
Website: https://investor.broadridge.com/ 
  
Independent Auditors:  
Ernst & Young LLP 
55 Ivan Allen Jr. Blvd, Suite 1000  
Atlanta, Georgia 30308 

Board of Directors:  
 
Kim S. Fennebresque 
Chairman  
 
Dwight Gibson  
President, CEO, and 
Director  
 
Karel K. Czanderna 
Director  
 
Dominic DiNapoli  
Director  
 
Mitchell B. Lewis  
Director  
 
J. David Smith  
Director 
 
Carol B. Yancey  
Director 

Executive Officers:  
 
Dwight Gibson  
President and CEO  
 
Kelly C. Janzen  
Senior Vice President, CFO, 
and Treasurer  
 
Shyam K. Reddy    
Senior Vice President, Chief 
Legal and Sustainability 
Officer, and Corporate 
Secretary  
 
Kevin A. Henry 
Chief People Officer  
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